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--- On commencing at 9:35 a.m.

MS. LONG:  Please be seated.


Good morning, everyone.  The Panel is sitting today in EB-2017-0182, 0194, and 0364.


Before we begin, are there any preliminary matters, Mr. Cass?  No?  Mr. Warren?  No?


Okay.  Then, Mr. Murray, we're ready for you to start your cross-examination of this panel.

NEXTBRIDGE - PANEL 1, resumed
Aziz Brott,

Dan Mayers,

Jennifer Tidmarsh,

Becky Walding,

Erin Whillans,

David Biggar; Previously Affirmed

Cross-Examination by Mr. Murray:


MR. MURRAY:  Thank you, Madam Chair.


Once again, panel, my name is Lawren Murray.  I am counsel to Board Staff.  Before we get started I just wanted to deal with a brief housekeeping matter.


I believe a couple of days ago a chart was prepared by NextBridge totalling costs of approximately $34,366,518.  I don't believe this was ever put into evidence or marked as an exhibit, so I just wanted to do so now.  I would ask this be marked as Exhibit K7.1.
EXHIBIT NO. K7.1:  NEXTBRIDGE CHART.


MR. MURRAY:  And just so I can confirm on the record, this $334 million number, this is the cost that NextBridge has incurred to date in construction costs?


MS. TIDMARSH:  So it's -- yes, it is the costs from July of 2017, the end, when we filed our leave-to-construct application, all the way until September 31st, so about two weeks ago.


MR. MURRAY:  Okay, thank you.  So I would like to move forward now and revisit an issue that has been discussed previously with a number of the questioners, and I just want to make sure I understand the background correct.  So in or around September of this year, so last month, NextBridge went about kind of redoing its schedule to deal with the reality that the construction was able to start in the fall of 2018.  Do I have that right?


MS. TIDMARSH:  That's correct, yes.


MR. MURRAY:  And as part of that process you had some discussions with Valard.


MS. TIDMARSH:  We did, yes.


MR. MURRAY:  Can you tell me when these discussions took place?


MS. TIDMARSH:  I will have to ask Mr. Mayers.  I believe our conversations happened around the time of when our -- when the interrogatories were submitted.  So I'm sorry, I can't remember the date, but Mr. Mayers?


MR. MAYERS:  Yeah, probably early to mid-September.


MR. MURRAY:  Was there one conversation, a series of conversations?


MR. MAYERS:  A series of conversations, yes.


MR. MURRAY:  One, two?  Can you give me any sense?


MR. MAYERS:  I was involved in one.  I don't know if Mr. Brott was involved in a couple.  But there were three or four conversations.


MR. BROTT:  Yes.  It was in parallel with developing the revised schedules.


MR. MURRAY:  And did the issue of cost or cost increases come up at any of these conversations?


MR. BROTT:  Well, obviously there was a -- you know, as you are developing the schedule you talk about what the impacts would be.  So we talked about it on a high level, but until the schedules were done, you can't talk about the cost.  Or you can't really quantify the cost.


MR. MURRAY:  But so, were there any numbers exchanged in terms of ballparks, in terms of what the costs would be if we moved this around or we moved that around?  Were any of those discussed in those conversations?


MR. BROTT:  No.


MR. MURRAY:  No?  So then what numbers were discussed at those conversations in terms of -- was it just -- at any point was there a discussion in terms of, if we do X or Y how much more will it cost?


MR. MAYERS:  No, because the contractor, again, he is looking for some type of finalization of what his schedule might look like.  So he has to go back -- initial conversations are, the delay has started.  You know, we're delayed again.


So if we did get leave to construct sometime before the end of the year and we could start, or got our EA in early February, what is the impact.


So the first discussions were around, well, the impacts would probably be, you are now kind of potentially towards the latter part of the winter, and potentially we could be in a situation where you're going to be in the thaw part of the season.


So, you know, they had to determine what they might be able to get done before thaw started and what they might not be able to get done, dependent on when the permits were going to be coming in.


So that -- that was one of the conversations that I was involved in.  And then a decision had to be made as to, well, it doesn't look like there is going to be -- there is no reason to mobilize and then have to "demob" for a while, so let's just look at the June target date of the start.


Then there was discussions that went on about, okay, how will we redo the segments that we've talked about or the work fronts that Mr. Brott had mentioned.  But, you know, without, you know, the contractor actually being able to determine how he was going to go about modifying the entire plan, we said, you know, let's not talk about you trying to redo your entire pricing if there is going to be a change.  Basically at a senior level in the company the discussions were:  Do you foresee this impact being significant enough that it would go beyond the current estimate that you have?  And the answer was:  Not at this time.


MR. MURRAY:  So just so I could unpack that.  There is a finalized plan now in terms of how you are going to redo the schedule, correct?


MR. MAYERS:  It's as final as the information that we have today.


MR. MURRAY:  Has there been any requests or any discussions about what the costs of that final plan will be?


MR. MAYERS:  No.


MR. MURRAY:  So --


MR. MAYERS:  I mean, again, other than it's going to fall within our estimate, their contracted amount that they have, and the plus/minus 10 percent that we have mentioned previously.


MR. MURRAY:  So it will fall within a $75 million band?


MR. MAYERS:  At the uppermost.


MR. MURRAY:  Is there any way you can quantify that or kind of be more specific in terms of what the likely costs would be?


MR. MAYERS:  No.  Because as of now we're basically saying that the contract is the contract.  We're not changing the contract.


MR. BROTT:  I think the likely cost is still the 737, but we have the plus or minus 10 percent bandwidth if we run into unknown unknowns.  It is hard to quantify unknown unknowns because they're unknowns, but like a warm winter, when you're building over one winter season.


MR. MURRAY:  And does Valard also think that the prices won't change?  Have they expressed that view to you?


MR. MAYERS:  The prices are subject to change, if indeed we get some type of confirmation as to what the scheduling might look like, if it differentiates from the current schedule that we have.


But right now, we have a contract.  That contract
is -- the decision has been we're not changing the contract.  We're going to work through any potential issues.


MS. TIDMARSH:  But for clarity, so the changes that we talk about are still within the 737, so the contingency in the 737, as well as our estimate of the plus or minus 10 percent from the AACE Class 2.


So as we mentioned in IR number 49, we are still going to maintain the 737, and so we're -- any changes will still fall within that.


MR. MURRAY:  I am going to come back to this --


MS. LONG:  Sorry, I am confused by that.  So you are anticipating that there will be changes.  There will possibly be cost changes.  So how does that fall within the 737?  Aren't those beyond the 737 but within the 10 percent, plus or minus 10 percent?


MR. MAYERS:  We still have contingency in our overall 737.


MS. LONG:  So you have $50 million in contingency and it's going to fall within that amount?  Is that what you're saying?


MR. MAYERS:  We sure hope so.  It is for us to try to --


MS. LONG:  Then it's not -- sorry --


MR. MAYERS:  --- manage this contract within --


MS. LONG:  Then it's not --


MR. MAYERS:  -- the current estimate.


MS. LONG:  -- within your plus or minus 10 percent, these changes to the schedule.  It is within your $50 million contingency, which is in your 737?  Is that correct?


MS. TIDMARSH:  Yes.  And so this --


MR. MAYERS:  Yes.


MS. TIDMARSH:  -- the plus or minus 10 percent is a -- is based on the maturity of the class estimate.  Those are what you would call a management reserve.  And so those are based on the things that we just don't know.


So I mentioned an example earlier about when the IESO put the project back 35 months.  Nothing -- you can't predict anything like that.  So those plus or minus 10 percent, that is a known unknown.  So those are the things that you just don't know.


We have known unknowns in our contingency, so it is the $50 million, and those are things that are from the risk register, things that we know about, we talk about, you know, a spring thaw that doesn't come up, an environmental -- maybe an environmental species-at-risk issue.  But those are the things that were part of our risk register, and we know those, and they're in our contingency.


MR. MURRAY:  So I want to follow up on that.  You said known -- only known unknowns are in the plus or minus 10 percent, but wouldn't it be fair to say that in the spring you know there is going to be more costs if you have to kind of do construction in the spring?  You know there's going to be a need for spotters, you know that there's probably going to be birds' nests or other things that come up on the route; isn't that fair?  There are going to be additional costs if it starts in the spring?


MS. TIDMARSH:  And so we're going to -- those are the -- those are knowns -- sorry, the known unknown I think maybe is confusing for people.  But those are things that we are going to manage our contract to through our contingency.


MR. JANIGAN:  Just to straighten out the record, I think Mr. Murray said that was part of the plus or minus 10 percent.  It's not; it's part of the contingency.  Is that correct?


MS. TIDMARSH:  Correct.


MR. JANIGAN:  Okay.


MR. MURRAY:  One final question on this topic.  I understand NextBridge's view is that there doesn't need to be a change order or anything changed in the contract, other than the milestones.  Is that the same view that has been expressed by Valard?


MR. MAYERS:  To our -- yes.  Yes.



MR. MURRAY:  Have they specifically told you that?


MR. MAYERS:  Have they specifically told us?  They agree that we will do milestone changes if there is an approval for us to go forward on this leave to construct.  We have not talked dollars.


MR. MURRAY:  So you haven't talked dollars.


MR. MAYERS:  No.


MR. MURRAY:  But have they said to you nothing else in the contract has to change?


MR. MAYERS:  Not to my knowledge.


MR. MURRAY:  And has Valard ever told you that it does not anticipate there to be any changes or increases in the contract price as a result of the change from the fall of 2018 to the spring of 2019?


MR. MAYERS:  Not to my knowledge.


MS. TIDMARSH:  Just for clarity, not that they haven't -- not -- they haven't said that.  It's there are no changes from Valard.

MR. MURRAY:  There are no?


MS. TIDMARSH:  Changes from Valard.  So, for clarity, Mr. Mayers is saying not to his knowledge was there a conversation, but not to his knowledge are there any changes.  Just for clarity.


MR. MURRAY:  Well, has Valard ever said, or has there been a discussion where Valard has said we agree there won't be any increases in costs as a result of this relocation from the fall to the spring?


MR. MAYERS:  No.


MR. MURRAY:  Has that question ever been asked?


MR. MAYERS:  I am not privy to all of the conversations that have been held with Valard, but not to my knowledge, no.


MR. MURRAY:  Is there anyone else on the panel who has had a conversation with Valard on this topic?


MS. TIDMARSH:  No.


MR. BROTT:  It's at our vice-president level and above.


MR. MURRAY:  If I could ask us to go to Staff IR 55,  and it is attachment 1, page 3.  Now, this page is a slide deck from your -- a presentation that was given to your board of directors about the various ongoing costs of the project. In particular, it is titled "Variances" and kind of lists a number of variances that occurred, I believe, over the May 2018 spending period.


If you look at the first three or four bullets, they talk about what are referred to as timing differences.  And I take that to mean that there hasn't necessarily been an increase in the overall cost of the project or certain aspect of the project.  It's just it may have been spent slightly earlier, or the invoice might be coming in the next period; is that fair?


MS. TIDMARSH:  That's fair, yes.


MR. MURRAY:  And then if you focus on the last two bullets, regulatory and project management, they discuss expenses and they refer to them as, quote, permanent differences.  I take that to mean situations where there's been a permanent, that there was a certain -- there was either an activity that wasn't originally considered and now there is a cost associated with it, or there was that activity contemplated, but it actually just cost more than you originally thought.  Is that fair?


MS. TIDMARSH:  That's fair.  Activities that weren't anticipated, or that we have added.


MR. MURRAY:  And similarly, if you go to page 7 of this document; this will show variances for another period.  Once again, you will see reference in the first to some timing differences.  But then if you look, there is a number of permanent differences including additional funds for Supercom, additional legal work for Batchewana and Pays Plat, and other permanent differences.


So the question I have is does NextBridge have somewhere a grand total of all of the permanent differences it has incurred to date on -- during the construction phase of the East-West Tie line project?


MS. TIDMARSH:  So in answer to your question, each of the team leads, so each one of these groups -- so for example, SR would be stakeholder relations.  And so permanent differences in respect of printing work for the amended EA; those were costs that were anticipated.  However, each team lead manages to their own budget.


And so as part of our cost management process, we would -- that team lead would obviously know what the differences were, but then manage to their budget as a whole.


So if you are looking for a complete, holistic list of all of the individual -- so for example, that's printing work; I believe it was in the magnitude of a few thousand dollars -- that could be managed from the stakeholder relations budget as a whole.


So I think each individual team lead could let me know what each variance would be.  But do we have a giant running total?  We don't.


MR. MURRAY:  And can you tell me to date how much of the $40 million construction contingency NextBridge has used?


MS. TIDMARSH:  So we haven't used any contingency.  So as I mentioned, each of these team leads manages to their budget as a whole, right?  And so they find efficiencies  in some places, and in some places there was things they didn't anticipate to spend on.


And so at this point in time, they're managing to each of their own budgets.


MR. MURRAY:  So the permanent differences, which I understand to mean basically a situation where you may have thought an activity cost a thousand dollars and it cost two thousand dollars, you don't take the permanent difference and take it out of the contingency.  You just take it out of the original budget.


MS. WALDING:  They take it out of their own original budget.  So each area has their own budget and while they might have a permanent difference at that time, they might be able to save later on.  So we don't go into contingency unless we absolutely know that they can't manage to the end of their budget.


MR. MURRAY:  So if the Board wanted to know where NextBridge's costs were with respect to where they should be based upon the number of activities you do, is there anything in the evidence that can explain that?


MS. WALDING:  We're still within our 737.  So as we explained, each area has to manage back to their own budget.  And they have to let us know if they can't manage within their own budget, and while there's permanent differences, none of the areas have said that that's -- that they can't mitigate that.


MS. TIDMARSH:  Also, just for clarity as well, all of our OEB reporting on our quarterly basis -- I believe there is another one coming up in the next couple of weeks -- itemizes all of our costs on an ongoing basis.


So you can see what we have been spending to date, which this -- a hand-out that we gave for September 31st, and then also mapped against our actual budgets.  So you can see as we work through our process how much money we have been spending for each team lead.


MR. MURRAY:  That segues into my next line of questions.  I just want to take a step back and review the costs kind of -- the cost management that has happened to date.


So just by way of history, my understanding is during the designation process, NextBridge budgeted $397 million for the construction of the East-West Tie line, correct?


MS. TIDMARSH:  During the designation phase.


MR. MURRAY:  And when you applied three-and-a-half years later, the number had jumped to 737 million.


MS. TIDMARSH:  That's correct.


MR. MURRAY:  And during the designation, NextBridge said it could do the development work for 22.4 million.


MS. TIDMARSH:  That's correct.


MR. MURRAY:  And currently in this proceeding, you're seeking recovery of $40.2 million for the development work.


MS. TIDMARSH:  So for clarity, a lot of things have happened in the past three-and-a-half years.  So you can see from all of our evidence and our leave-to-construct, and then all of the evidence in our development cost hearings, all of the reasons for the increases.


We have broke them down very -- in granular detail, and a lot of our information is about project delay from the three-and-a-half years.  We have broken down all the reasons for our development phase, the increases during our development phase.


Also, it is fair to say actually in our development phase that although we said 22.4, again in May 2015, we let the Board know that we would be spending $40 million.


And so there has been many touch points along the way for our development phase on the increases and the reasons why.  Then when we filed our leave-to-construct after we had a solid number from our general contractor, the signing of our general contractor, in our leave-to-construct there is a tab that talks about all of the percentage changes.


The recent data book that was disclosed in Staff 56, I believe, also has a complete breakdown of the quantum of why the cost has gone up from designation in the past three-and-a-half years.


MR. MURRAY:  If I could ask you to turn to undertaking JT1.12.  This would be from the June 1, 2018 technical conference.  If we could go to the second page.  If we could scroll down to the chart at the bottom of page 1 -- sorry, actually, if you can actually go over to page 2.  The bottom, to the totals.


So this chart shows that the actual construction -- estimated construction spend for NextBridge from August 1st to December 31st, 2017, and I understand that for that first six-month period NextBridge had budgeted $1.7 million for its construction budget and its actual spend was $4.9 million.  Do I have those numbers right?


MS. TIDMARSH:  I just want to take a look at the -- can I get it -- so we don't have paper copies of anything, so if I could get a scroll up as well, just so I can see for the context.  Keep going up, Stef.  And then just scroll down, Stef, that's fine.


Yes, I have oriented myself with it.


MR. MURRAY:  So those numbers are correct?  It was 1.7 estimated, and 4.9 was the actual spend?


MS. TIDMARSH:  I think there is actually one that -- so this is from August 1st to December 31st.  I think there is one that is much more updated than that.


MR. MURRAY:  I am actually going to go through the next --


MS. TIDMARSH:  Sorry, I'm jumping ahead.


MR. MURRAY:  You're jumping ahead a little bit.  So if you could scroll to the next page, we then have the totals for January 1st to April 30th, 2018.


MS. TIDMARSH:  Yes.


MR. MURRAY:  If you look budgeted, it is 8.45 million, and then the actuals was 10.1 million; is that correct?


MS. TIDMARSH:  That's correct.


MR. MURRAY:  And to be fair, if we could go to Staff IR 55, and go to the second page, we will see the chart -- we will see the chart of, if we can scroll down to the bottom, we will see from May 1st to August 31st, 2018, the estimated spend was 42 million and the actual was 18.  And if we could scroll over to the next page, an explanation is provided.  And I understand the reason why -- so to page 3, if we scroll to page 3.


And my understanding is the reason for the much lower spend than anticipated is there was a conscious effort by NextBridge to slow down spending until the leave-to-construct was determined.  Is that fair?


MS. TIDMARSH:  That's fair, yes.


MR. MURRAY:  So if you take away the last four-month period, where there's been an intentional slowdown, there seems to be a consistent pattern of actual spending exceeding the estimated spending.  Is that fair?


MS. TIDMARSH:  So going through -- and I think there would need to be explanations for each one of them.  We were planning on -- so for the past four months we are planning on trying to get -- we were hoping we would have our decision so we can get shovels in the ground for November 1st of this year.


And so the spending was within, so the spending you can see would have been within each one of the team leads' budgets to manage.


And so the spend itself was based on spend curves that were determined during the leave-to-construct.  And so as we started to develop our further planning, some of the things we've moved up.  So for example, we had moved up some of the work that Valard was doing in field reconnaissance.  That got moved up.  For example, you could talk about the Environmental Assessment.  There was an amended EA that was needed.  So that also was included in that budget.


But again, each of these budgets in the construction phase are being budgeted -- being managed to each individual team lead as a whole.


MS. WALDING:  And there are always timing differences in any kind of construction project.  So that's been a result of timing differences.  We have had to move some things up to work our -- to continue working our schedule to 2020, and so that is just a normal kind of construction process.


MR. MURRAY:  Okay.


MR. BROTT:  But to add to that, when you move the work up, yes, your budget accelerates, so it looks like you are spending more money faster, but you are also completing more of the activities faster.


MR. MURRAY:  Is there anything in the evidence that shows that you have completed more of the activities to date than you had anticipated and that is why the spending is higher?


MS. TIDMARSH:  So our quarterly reports have a lot of information about the activities that we've been doing and the work that we've done.  And then I think the information in this IR also talks about the work that we've been doing, so by activities.  But our quarterly reports detail all of the milestones and all of the work that we've been doing on the project and provide details about when we'd be doing things.


MR. MURRAY:  But you would agree that designation in terms of your construction budget and the development budget in your first essentially ten months of construction, the actual spend in all of those periods was higher than what was estimated.


MS. TIDMARSH:  So you've got different snapshots for each -- from IRs from each one.  So collectively as a whole from our -- from our leave-to-construct budget to September 31st is what we've provided here.


And so if you compared what we've been provided here to what we've been -- what our actual budget is, we are still tracking towards spending -- spending prudently or spending properly in order to get the line in-service by December 2020.


MS. WALDING:  Mr. Murray, it is really difficult with not having a compendium.  So can you -- can we scroll back up to some of the material for us to review it?   Scroll up a little bit more.  And a little bit more.  And a little bit more, sorry, to the next table.  Oh, I'm lost.  Where is the table, your second table?  Where is the second table?


MR. MURRAY:  It is in JT -- I guess --


MS. WALDING:  I am trying to show that there is a trend here, that only the first item was overbudget, and then this one we actually caught up significantly on the overbudget -- on the amount that we were overbudget.


And so the trend has been for us to spend less and less, as a trend overall.


MR. MURRAY:  I guess the question I have -- I appreciate you have an explanation for a number of these differences, but ultimately there seems to have been a consistent pattern of actual expenditures exceeding estimated expenditures.  So the question I have is, given that history, can you explain how the Board can have confidence when you say that you are going to come in at $737 million, that the actual line will be in-service at an amount of $737 million, if not less?


MS. TIDMARSH:  So firstly I would like to say, given the history, I don't think -- the history of the project from beginning to end.  And so if we can -- we talk about the -- you mentioned the designation, and I know that is not part of this proceeding, and the development costs.  So NextBridge has -- had come in in May 2015 and let the Board know that it would be $40 million, and it was $40 million when NextBridge came in for our leave-to-construct and development costs.


So we did make our budget for the development costs.  We managed to do that budget.  We managed the activities we said we were going to do.


So then continuing on, Ms. Walding also just pointed out, so as a continuum as the budget has gone on in time, there are times where we've caught up, right?  So we are still, from the original part where you talked about overspend, then we have caught up here in January to April 30th.  Then as we have continued on the project we are still in a project management -- we are still managing the budget in the project management phase, and so our -- sorry, that is not articulate.  We are still managing our budget as a whole by each segment, by each team lead.  You can see that each time we find efficiencies.


So if there is an activity that is done in one period, that means the activity is done and the work is done.  It's not duplicated.  It's not -- it's not running on.  And we finish that activity and then they move to the next one.


So I think you have to look at the construction budget holistically, and if we talk about our track record and our history, we did do that in the development phase.  We did come in within budget on our designation.  And so I think we have a good track record of coming in with the budget we said we were going to.


MS. WALDING:  And this is a difficult project, because it's the first straight-line infrastructure in northwestern Ontario, and so the development was something that was unknown, you know.  And so it was something that we -- but now we have it known, because we have went through five years of development in this area, and we have actually put boots on the ground.  So we have a lot of comfort around our current estimate because we have went through those five years and have discovered a lot of, you know, things that we needed to know in order to develop our construction estimate.


MS. TIDMARSH:  Including our environmental assessment, which will be approved shortly.  So those are also big, big milestones in our project, where we have a very detailed understanding of the project and the project area at a very mature cost estimate that is almost an AACE Class 1.


MR. MURRAY:  Which by brings me to my next question.  Appreciating that there is no requirement that any party provide a price cap or not-to-exceed price, I'm a little puzzled as to -- given the confidence level that you have, that NextBridge is reluctant to provide some sort of not-to-exceed price.  Perhaps you could expand on the company's view on that.


MS. TIDMARSH:  Yes.  So NextBridge has never had a cost cap.  In all of the eight years since designation, we have never offered a cost cap.


We don't intend to offer a cost cap.  We are confident in our costs that we have with the plus or minus 10 percent on the AACE.


We're ready to construct.  We are still at a plus or minus 10 percent.  And so we've noticed obviously that there's -- if there's a not-to-exceed price or a cost cap, it is not a black-and-white mechanism.  There seems to be a lot of -- we've heard in testimony previously that it is not just a simple cap-the-costs situation.


And so we think that because we're so mature in our cost estimate and our confidence is so high, that we will bring it into budget.  But we are not going to cost cap or do a not-to-exceed price.


MR. MURRAY:  I would like to turn to talk a little bit now about the Marathon station.  I just want to make sure I understand this correctly.


On the Marathon station, as I understand, the MECP will not allow the Marathon station work to begin until the NextBridge EA has been approved.  Is that NextBridge's understanding?


MS. TIDMARSH:  So the understanding that I have is that the individual environmental assessment for NextBridge, the MECP would like to see that done first -- or sorry, would like to see that complete before providing permits to Hydro One.  So that's the --


However, if we talk about work being done, a leave-to-construct is also necessary for station work to begin.


And so MECP this afternoon could talk about their understandings about the environmental assessments.  But from our understanding as well, work can't begin until there is a leave-to-construct as well.


MR. MURRAY:  So you don't take issue with the fact that it's the MECP that is preventing the start of work at this point?


MS. TIDMARSH:  For Hydro One for the station work?


MR. MURRAY:  Yes.


MS. TIDMARSH:  As far as I know.


MR. MURRAY:  And if I understand, the concern you have is that you feel that perhaps Hydro One could do the Marathon station faster, in terms of when they can start constructing it.  Correct?


MS. TIDMARSH:  We haven't seen the schedules yet, so we don't understand what the schedules for Hydro One look like.


We know that when the project was five years ago, the order in council, that the line and the project itself would need to be in-service in December 2020.


And so NextBridge did everything it could to ensure that the line would be in-service by 2020 to meet that order in council when we got that information five years ago.


So we don't -- we don't know what's in Hydro One's schedules.  From our view of what we've seen so far in the PowerPoint deck, Mr. Mayers has gone on at length as to how he thinks there may be some -- may be some efficiencies  to be had.  But again, we haven't seen detailed schedules.


MR. MURRAY:  So I understand Hydro One's going to be providing the station schedule shortly.  Let's assume, for example, it says the station work cannot be completed until August 2020.


Does NextBridge intend, in that circumstance, to still have the line -- sorry, September 2021.  Does NextBridge still intend, in that circumstance, to aim to build its line by December 2020?


MS. TIDMARSH:  NextBridge has not received any other direction besides the two needs assessments and the updates from the IESO and the order in council for 2020.


Under no other authority has (sic) NextBridge going to change its schedule, because we have not seen -- we have not seen anyone else say that the line is to be in-service at a later date.


So NextBridge is going with the two needs assessments, and with the order in council to bring the project into 2020.


For NextBridge to slip a schedule or to move a schedule, it seems all very cavalier here.  Everyone is like, oh, I will just add an extra couple of months.  But NextBridge needs some direction if it is not needed by the government, it's not part of government policy, if it's not what the IESO needs.  We have heard that the IESO does need that by 2020, because there will be system costs.  So it is not in NextBridge's purview to go ahead and let a schedule slip or move without any sort of indication or authority.


MR. MURRAY:  So correct me if I'm wrong, but for the line to come in-service, the Marathon station needs to be operational, correct?


MS. TIDMARSH:  That's correct.


MR. MURRAY:  So if it's not going to be operation until September 2021, whether or not the NextBridge line is built, the line is not going to be operational until September 2021, correct?


MS. TISMARSH:  If Hydro One can't find efficiencies or have the station work done, then the line can't be operational without the station work.


MR. MURRAY:  But in that circumstance, NextBridge still intends to have its work done and the line built by December 2020?


MS. TIDMARSH:  We have had no other indication from anyone that says that NextBridge should not be working towards a December 2020 in-service date.


MR. MURRAY:  Does NextBridge intend to have any discussions ongoing with Hydro One, if it is granted leave to construct, to ensure that the line and the station go into service around the same time?


MS. TIDMARSH:  So we've had -- I think we talked at length with Mr. Warren about the letters from MECP and the meeting that we had.  But NextBridge did not know until September 24th when the interrogatories were filed that the station work would not be ready until December 2021.


And so at this point -- we've all been kind of busy since then -- NextBridge has not met with Hydro One to discuss when the station work would need to be in-service.


MR. MURRAY:  Does it intend to meet with them after this, if it is granted leave-to-construct, to discuss schedules and ensuring --


MS. TIDMARSH:  Definitely.


MR. MURRAY:  And they both come into service at the same time, that there is not a rush to get something in service or done by 2020, if it's going to sit there idle for a year, potentially?


MS. TIDMARSH:  NextBridge has no -- we haven't had any discussions.  NextBridge hasn't seen any of the schedules for the station work to have that kind of discussion, a granular discussion, to figure out when the station work would be ready.


There's been lots of talk about finding efficiencies, I believe Mr. Spencer said it in testimony, to try and move up the dates.  There are three stations.  We don't have enough information to have that conversation.


But if we are given granted the leave-to-construct, we can have that conversation with them.


MR. MAYERS:  Mr. Murray, ongoing dialogue does continue on the crossing work, however.  And I think more recently a decision has been made by Hydro One to sit down with us again, to talk over additional requirements that are now necessary for us to continue to get crossing agreements.


MS. DUFF:  Mr. Murray, I just wanted to say, the station work application is part of this combined proceeding, right?  So I don't know that the Board -- you are in a scenario where the Board approved a leave to construct, but does not approve the station work application?  What was the scenario that --


MR. MURRAY:  The concern Staff has is -- the concern we have is that there may be a rush to get this line in-service by 2020, and that there might be additional

 costs -- or likely will be additional costs associated with that rush.  In a circumstance where that line is going to sit idle for eight or nine months, we query whether it would be prudent or reasonable to kind of push or accelerate that construction schedule, when ultimately it won't provide any benefit to ratepayers or electricity in the northwest.  That is the concern we have.


Ultimately, I think the parties need to discuss to ensure that both the line and the station are done as soon as possible, but they're done in tandem and one is isn't don't significantly in advance of the other just to get it done.


MS. TIDMARSH:  I would agree with that, and I think we would need direction about having our schedule slip past December 2020.  As I mentioned, we have no authority to have that schedule slip because all indications have been for December 2020.


MR. MURRAY:  You say you have no authority.  So you're saying you are required to have the line in-service by 2020?


MS. TIDMARSH:  It was our understanding from the order in council for a December 2020 date, the needs assessments from the IESO.  We have a schedule that was filed as part of our leave to construct that made December 2020.  We need to know if there is -- if there's a decision that the line should not be in-service by 2020.


Because of the system costs that will be incurred to have NextBridge determine that it's okay for the ratepayers of Ontario to incur system costs for the line not to be in-service in 2020, we can't make that decision.


MS. WALDING:  Mr. Murray, we understand your concern.  I think that is a valid concern.


But I think it's a valid concern on the station side as well, that that schedule not slip unnecessarily, because it can go both directions, right?


You know, we don't want to rush and have extra costs for the customers.  But we also don't want the stations to slip unnecessarily and also have extra costs for the customers.


So there is a balancing act that has to occur here, right, because you don't want to rush the construction of the line.  But any extent that you go into 2021, I think we can all agree that there are incremental costs, whether it's in your interest during construction or whether it is in the system cost.  So there is a balancing act that needs to be figured out, to your point.


MR. MURRAY:  Thank you --


MS. LONG:  Ms. Tidmarsh, can I just follow up on something you said, that you haven't received direction with respect to anything beyond the end of 2020 date?


Have you given any thought to who would provide you with that direction?


MS. TIDMARSH:  I mean, at this point I would think because the order in council came from the government, we would potentially receive direction from the government rescinding whatever the December 2020 in-service date to make it a priority project.


In fact, when you -- the need, so as part of our leave-to-construct the need is covered in our leave-to-construct application because we have all of these updated needs assessments from the IESO that say the need is for December 2020.


So if the IESO came back and said they changed their opinion on when the line is needed in-service and they say it is 2021, and that's their position, then we could rely on that as part of our need in our leave-to-construct application.


MS. LONG:  Thank you for that clarification.


MR. MURRAY:  If I could ask us to turn to Exhibit 4.2.  This is a chart of the costs, various costs, by NextBridge and Hydro One for their applications.  And I have already put this document to Hydro One.  So NextBridge -- I was just hoping you could confirm that the development costs and the costs listed under the heading "construction costs", those costs accurately reflect the costs that NextBridge has.


MS. TIDMARSH:  We have seen this and, yes, we agree.


MR. MURRAY:  Today I would like to actually focus on the bottom item, which is the annual OM&A costs or estimated OM&A costs that are proposed by the two applicants.


If you see the NextBridge number, the total estimated OM&A costs that you project once the line would be in-service would be about $3.9 million; is that correct?


MS. TIDMARSH:  That's correct, yes.


MR. MURRAY:  And you would agree that Hydro One's number is at $1.499 million, is significantly lower.


MS. TIDMARSH:  I see 1.579.


MR. MURRAY:  I think we might have the wrong document up there.  I think the version up on the screen is actually maybe not --


MS. DUFF:  It doesn't match K4.2.


MR. MURRAY:  Yes, it doesn't match K4.2.  Perhaps -- we're going to provide you with copies of the actual K4.2.


MS. TIDMARSH:  Thank you.


MR. MURRAY:  I think that was an earlier version of it, and this is the one that had been updated after receiving comments from the various parties.


[Document passed to the witness panel.]


MS. LONG:  Do you have that, Mr. Cass?  Do you have the updated K4.2?  Okay.  If not, we can get you a copy.


MR. MURRAY:  And whether it is 1.579 or 1.499, I think we can agree that there is a significant difference between the two estimated OM&A costs?


MS. TIDMARSH:  There is a difference, yes.


MR. MURRAY:  Now, in arriving at the OM&A costs that NextBridge proposed, have you considered other similarly smaller transmitters such as B2M?


MS. TIDMARSH:  So I will pass the O&M costs over to Mr. Mayers.


MR. MAYERS:  I'm sorry, your question was, did we consider...


MR. MURRAY:  In arriving at the number of 3.9 million did you consider other small transmitters in Ontario such as B2M?


MS. TIDMARSH:  Bruce-to-Milton.


MR. MAYERS:  Bruce-to-Milton?  No.


MR. MURRAY:  And in an effort to potentially lower the $3.9 million cost, has NextBridge considered any outsourcing options that may reduce either ongoing operations, maintenance, or administration costs?


MR. MAYERS:  Yes, absolutely.  We mentioned yesterday we only have two full-time employees of NextBridge and that we would be contracting vegetation management as well as line inspections and any type of maintenance that comes out of those inspections.  That will all be contracted.


MR. MURRAY:  And this $3.9 million includes all of those potential --


MR. MAYERS:  As you see, it is broken down into three components.  I can speak directly to the operational -- operation and maintenance portion of that, and I believe Ms. Tidmarsh can speak to the regulatory and compliance.


But we've got, again, third-party vegetation inspections and management and the overhead line inspection and management.  And then we've got our NextBridge personnel's payroll, and then the system operation support again that we talked about yesterday, which equates to the 1.272 million.


MR. MURRAY:  Have you considered potentially cooperating if you are going to leave-to-construct vegetation management services or maintenance along with Hydro One, who also has a line along the same route?


MR. MAYERS:  You know, I have talked to our operations people about it, and, you know, I don't believe up to this point in the -- the cooperation that we've had between the two competitive parties, that there's been any reason to discuss it, because every time we've talked about things like sharing right-of-way and sharing access, we basically get told no.


So to answer your question, no, we have not had direct contact with Hydro One.  Would we be willing to do it?  I think we might, if the opportunity arose, but as I said, up to this point practically everything that we've discussed we've not had any luck in getting communication, other than the crossing work that's taken more than two-and-a-half years.


MR. MURRAY:  Thank you, that is helpful.


I want to focus in particular on this $2.449 million number which NextBridge has listed for compliance, including administration.


Can I ask that Staff IR 54 be pulled up.  If we could go to page 4 of that document.  So on page 4 of the document it kind of breaks down the $2.449 million compliance number into a further level of granularity.  I would like to focus on the last item of Indigenous costs.


And I know this issue was raised yesterday, but I wanted to come back to it.  To be clear, Staff does not want kind of the exact amounts that you paid to each of Pays Plat and Michipicoten.  But is NextBridge prepared to provide the total number it is paying to both of those communities out of the million dollars for rents?


MS. TIDMARSH:  Sorry?  So --


MR. MURRAY:  So I understand the million dollars includes within it rents that are being paid to the two First Nations whose reserves are being crossed.


MS. TIDMARSH:  Correct, yes.


MR. MURRAY:  And I am not interested in the amount going to each of those two First Nations, I am interested in the total of that.  Is NextBridge prepared to put that number on the record?


MS. TIDMARSH:  So at this point we are actually still in negotiations.  And so -- with those two First Nations.  We have come to a quantum, and so I also think that it's -- at this point, because we are still in negotiations, NextBridge is not willing to provide that confidential information.


MS. WALDING:  And I think you could probably back into the amount if you were a party to one of those negotiations, if you had the total.  So I think that that is the reason why, also, we want to keep it confidential.


MR. MURRAY:  Is that amount more than $200,000 which is -- Hydro One has set aside?


MS. TIDMARSH:  Again, I don't want to start talking about the quantums.  You can start backing into things if you are one of the parties that we're negotiating with.


MR. MURRAY:  And I understand the million-dollar cost includes other amounts for training and also for vegetation management.


Now, I wanted to focus on the vegetation management piece.  Can you provide some further details, in terms of what's being done there?


I guess the question I have is, how does this vegetation management differ from the $460,000 you have listed as general vegetation management?


MS. TIDMARSH:  So these would be hiring people from the local community, on reserve, training them to assist NextBridge in supporting our vegetation management, and then also monitoring activities.


So whenever we're out on reserve there is always very keen interest from all of the people from the Indigenous communities about, for example, are there blueberries in the right-of-way?  Are there any secret species in the right-of-way?  So to be able to support the efforts for communities to come out during those vegetation management activities would be part of this.


MR. MURRAY:  So would they be performing the actual vegetation management?  Or just observing and monitoring?


MS. TIDMARSH:  So there is money in there for training, but the actual people who would go ahead and do the labour for the vegetation management is included in the other bucket of the O&M.


MR. MURRAY:  I would like to now move on and talk a bit about reliability of service.


Now, as I understand Mr. Mayers' evidence yesterday, NextBridge plans to have one service centre located in Thunder Bay.  Is that correct?


MR. MAYERS:  Yes.


MR. MURRAY:  Is there any particular reason why NextBridge proposes to put its one service centre on one far end of the line?


MR. MAYERS:  I think it has to do with the availability of, one, a place to live.  Thunder Bay is a fairly decent -- it is a good-sized town in comparison to both Marathon and Wawa.


There is adequate facilities there for us to store equipment.  There is available space for offices.  It would be close to the airport and for getting our helicopters up in the air quickly, if necessary, to do surveying if there's an outage on the line.


To our ops folks, it ended up being a location that was better than the central or the eastern end of the province.


MR. MURRAY:  And the other thing Staff is interested in:  Can you please describe NextBridge's plans to deal with situations where there is a forced outage?


MR. MAYERS:  Yes.  Our intention is to be tied into HONI's SCADA system, so that when an outage occurs we will get notification at our system operation centre as well.  Notifications will be made directly to the employees.


There will be communications with HONI and the IESO.  Hopefully, with, you know, the equipment that's available and we have today, you can generally get an idea of where the outage is between, say, two structures.  Basically, then we will get in a helicopter -- or say if it is close to Thunder Bay and they can get into their trucks, they will head out there immediately and look at it.  If it happens to be at the further end, then they will get into a helicopter and they will fly to the area to assess the situation.


At the same time there is communications, one, you have to kind of scope what the problem is first.  It could have been created by lightning.  It could have been a tree branch that's hanging up in it.  Hopefully, none of those things occur, things blow into conductors.  But at the end of the day, there will be an assessment that is done.


If there was damage to, say, a string of insulators, maybe -- insulators get shot all the time.  Hunters get bored, they can't get a deer, an insulator is fun.  If they assess there is an insulator that has been damaged, then we will notify our contractor.  As I stated previously, we don't have a contract in place yet, but the contractor would be notified and basically given an assessment of what the damage is.  And by that determination, he will decide what type of crew, what type of equipment will be necessary and he will begin mobilization efforts to pull his crews to begin to do the work.


MR. MURRAY:  So on this issue where you would go out to the field, would it be NextBridge employees going out to the field to do like a pre-screen, or would you be sending the contractor out in those types of situations?


MR. MAYERS:  No, I wouldn't expect the contractor just sitting around waiting for an outage.


We -- it would be a NextBridge employee.  They're going to be on-call all the time, they know that.  There's two of them, but if a decision was or -- let's just say somebody noticed something in the field, somebody happened to be driving by or saw some damage to it, notified us, and we said it might be better to get the contractor to show up to support the effort.  Let's say he gets in the helicopter with a NextBridge employee.


But, you know, you're asking me to speculate about an outage that I am not sure what the level of detail is.
 What I am trying to explain is it would depend on the severity of it.


If somebody said they see towers down or, you know, then we would probably just ask the contractor to show up with our NextBridge people so that he can get visual first, you know, review, take pictures and begin an assessment to get the appropriate crew level assigned.


MR. MURRAY:  Can you give us a sense of how long that kind of whole process would take, where the NextBridge employee kind of gets the call or gets the issue, goes out, looks at the situation, and has to come back and get the contractor, then go out?  Do you have a sense of how long that would typically take?


MR. MAYERS:  Our intention is hours to respond.  I mean, if you had a worst case and with our crews being in the Thunder Bay area and they had to get to Wawa, you know, you're talking about potentially a couple of hours to get up and get to that location.  If it is something that is closer, it would be less time than that.


But if I had to get a contractor in, that might be a little more difficult, or we may tell the contractor to get his own equipment.


As I mentioned, we're negotiating, as an example, with Valard.  Valard has thousands of pieces of equipment and some of those are helicopters.  Valard can get in a helicopter as well and meet us at the site, or if for some reason we preferred or we had an agreement where they responded first, we could potentially have them do that.


But the assessment is what is key in trying to make a determination as to how long it's going to take.


If it's just insulators, it could be, you know, a few days, dependent on how quickly you can get the crews out and get up and do the work.  If it is towers that are physically on the ground, then it depends on how many towers and how long it might take. If it's a wire down, that scenario is a completely different situation.


But, you know, we're confident that we will be able to respond in a timely manner and ensure that the reliability of this line is met for the IESO.


I might also add, I mean, we do work in thirty states in the United States, in addition to southeast Canada. And in those thirty states, we have transmission lines. Every one of our wind farms and solar plants has a transmission line.


It's not only the competitive transmission work that we do daily, it's -- and the utility that we have in Florida, Florida Power & Light.  But we have these transmission lines everywhere.  Some of them are a hundred miles long, and some of them are two miles long.


But we have operations set up for every one of those, those -- the wind farm itself, the solar facility, the lines.  We have substations.  We have technicians and crews available to do that work.


If we need to call upon others, there are employees in southeast Ontario that we can call upon to support not only the contractor, but the oversight of construction and work activities.


My point is we do this all the time for all of our assets.  And we set up contracts for -- again, we use Quanta Company a good bit because they have utility -- they have power companies regionally spread out all over the United States, and we have contracts set up for them to respond to these work outages -- sorry, the outages that may occur.


And these agreements have been in place for a long time.  So we're -- again, we're confident this is just another one of those agreements that needs to be put in place for this project.


MS. WALDING:  And the reason why this is important, what Mr. Mayers is pointing out about our wind and solar facilities, is if you lose the transmission line, you lose all your revenue.  It's gone.


So when you are operating these plants from a P&L perspective, you have to bring them on quickly or you lose your revenues.


And so that's the mentally that we operate all of these facilities on, is that it is a dollar impact if we're not responding quickly.  So we know how to do that.


MR. MAYERS:  The operating practices that we plan to implement here are the same operating practices that we use throughout, and they're basically built from our utility model in Florida where we have a very good track record of high reliability.


MR. MURRAY:  I would like to move on and talk about the right-of-way.  Would you agree that one of the areas that has been identified by Hydro One as the basis for the cost difference is lower site cleaning -- sorry, site clearing costs because of a reduced footprint.  Is that fair?


MS. TIDMARSH:  Yes, that's fair.


MR. MURRAY:  I sort of see two reasons for that.  The first reason is they proposed to go through Pukaskwa National Park, and obviously you can't do anything about that.  That's one reason.


MS. TIDMARSH:  Correct.


MR. MURRAY:  The second reason is they appear to have a narrower right-of-way for their towers.


MS. TIDMARSH:  Right.  That's correct, yes.


MR. MURRAY:  And I don't know if we need to pull up the documents, but my understanding is that the right-of-way that Hydro One proposes to use is somewhere in the range of 37 to 46 metres, and yours appears to be between 56 and 64.  Does that sound about right?  I can pull up the documents.


MS. TIDMARSH:  So I am going to pass this over to Mr. Brott, who -- this is his area of expertise.


MR. BROTT:  So our right-of-way with -- is based on a couple of things.  The first one is blowout, which Mr. Mayers explained a little bit yesterday.  But it is basically, as your conductors hang and sag along the right-of-way and the wind blows on those conductors, it can blow them to the edges of the right-of-way, and you need to meet electrical clearances for trees, you need to meet, you know, NERC compliance standards.  This is a lot of what the vegetation management is for these blowout clearances.


That is one thing that dictates the right-of-way.  Another thing that dictated our right-of-way was to make sure that we could keep our anchors within the right-of-way. We want to keep all of the infrastructure within the right-of-way.


So when we initially bid this project in the designation application, based on something very similar to what Hydro One has done, we did all desktop data.  If you look at the desktop data, which is publicly available data from, you know, the Ministry of Mines, MNRF, it shows that, you know, it's Canadian Shield, and it shows the surficial geology is almost all surface rock.


Once we actually got out to the right-of-way we did geotech borings.  We ran our preliminary geotech program.  We learned that this rock is not at the surface.  We had expected 70 percent of the rock to be at the surface for this project based on desktop.  Once we actually got out there it's closer to 40 percent.


I will tell you why that is substantial, is because -- I will give you a drilled pier, which is basically a cylinder -- if anybody knows what it is, it's a cylinder that you fill with concrete, steel, and that is what you bear on for your foundations.


You know, if you assume that is at the surface you typically will bear a pier diameter into that rock.  But when you learn that the rock is, say, two, three metres underground, that one-metre-diameter pier that is now one metre into the rock has to go through all of the overburden, which is the soil on top of the rock, to bear that metre into the rock.


So that peer is now triple the concrete.  It is now triple the steel.  Say if it is two metres of overburden, triple the concrete, triple the steel, and substantially more labour.  So these are the things we learned over the five years I have been on this project.  I have actually -- today is my five-year anniversary on the project.


So over five years we learned that.  So if you have overburden, naturally your anchors have to get longer, okay, because you need to bear a certain distance into that rock with your anchors as well.  But in order to do that, you now have to go through a certain distance of overburden to do that.


And so the anchors got longer, which is another reason why we have more right-of-way.  But those are the two driving factors of why we have more right-of-way.


MR. MURRAY:  And one thing I didn't hear you mention, but perhaps might be an issue.  Does tower design in some way affect how wide a right-of-way you need?


MR. BROTT:  Well, I guess -- I am trying to -- give me one second.


So, yes, the tower design does have some impact.  Our tower design is very similar to Hydro One's tower design, but not as compact.  And the reason for that is because Hydro One did not meet a requirement in the minimum technical requirements for galloping.


So probably before this hearing everybody thought galloping was how horses ran, but -- and not to get into too many technical explanations, but I guess let me explain galloping now, because this is why our tower is -- our tower configuration is a little wider than Hydro One's.


But galloping is a scenario where ice forms on your conductor, and when you have low, steady winds over that ice, it will shape the ice like an air foil, like an airplane wing, just to simplify it a little bit.  And that airplane wing, that shape, the wind will lift it up and drop it, and it can start oscillating, and, you know, your conductors will look like jump ropes.


And when your conductors are oscillating like this and they slap together it can cause significant damage to your conductors, it can bring structures down, at times.  You know, so one thing you want to do is not allow galloping.  You never know when or where it is going to occur, but you want to leave enough space so that when your line gallops the conductors don't slap together.


MR. MURRAY:  And I believe Hydro One said they had -- they're proposing other measures to deal with galloping?  Is that possible too?  It doesn't always have to be a wider right-of-way?


MR. BROTT:  Well, it's possible.  I think they proposed interface spacers.  But -- so to go even further into the galloping, there is double-loop and there is single-loop galloping.  And so double-loop galloping is the jump-rope scenario and single-loop -- double-loop galloping --


MR. WARREN:  Madam Chair, may I object to this --


MR. BROTT:  -- is where --


MS. LONG:  Sorry, sorry.


MR. WARREN:  I thought a witness panel said the other day -- Mr. Mayers said the other day they were not maintaining, not taking the position, that my client's proposal did not meet technical requirements.  I apologize for too many negatives.  They're now changing that.


They said the other day that our client met all of the technical requirements, which would necessarily have included galloping.  We now have a different story.  And I object to that, Madam Chair.  We have had no opportunity to respond to that.


MR. BROTT:  Let me clarify.  I have the minimum technical requirements --


MS. WALDING:  That is not what Mr. Mayers meant to say.  That was not -- Mr. Mayers, if you can correct that.


MR. BROTT:  In the minimum technical requirements it says:

"The analysis shall consider single-loop galloping regardless of span length."


Which Hydro One has not done.  They could meet that by putting spacers in, and it is hard to say, because they haven't provided a lot of technical information that we have asked for.  But if they put spacers on, I am guessing a very large portion of the line, which would be exorbitantly expensive, they could mitigate it.  I would call that a Band-Aid approach if they did that.


But to keep in mind the standard they use, which is a rural utility standard, limits your single-loop galloping to 700 feet, which is about 200 metres.  On the East-West Tie most of your spans are closer to 400 metres, so double that.  And this is based on a CIGRE task force.  It is based on much newer empirical data that you should be using single-loop galloping over 700 feet.


So they're not meeting the minimum technical requirement.  They did not design it, and they say so in their evidence, that they designed to 700 feet, which means they did not meet the minimum technical requirements in the structures that have been designed.  They can go back and mitigate it, but they still have not met that requirement.


MR. MAYERS:  I think to summarize, the point is that for us to do that we had a different tower geometry, which led to a different design of our tower, which required the guying to be set at certain locations on that tower, which eventually led to the discussion that Mr. Brott had about having to space it out, to get it into the deeper rock that we required to anchor these structures.  That led to the overall additional width that was required of the right-of-way.


MR. BROTT:  Yes.  It also makes the structure heavier, thereby making the foundations heavier, requiring more right-of-way.  Meeting that requirement is one of the reasons why our materials are larger than Hydro One's.


MR. MAYERS:  And might I add that we did have early discussions with Hydro One to request this overlapping of right-of-way, which would have helped minimize the width that we needed, but, you know, that way -- like, for anchors.  Anchors are below ground.


If I could encroach upon somebody's easement with an anchor, it doesn't really impact a lot.  It's below grade.  Unfortunately, we were told:  Keep your own easement.  Totally separate.  Don't encroach on our easement at all.  So we could have saved.  We had the potential opportunity there to save a good bit of money, and that money would have translated to less costs for clearing, less costs for O&M longer-term, because they have a narrow right-of-way, less access road.  I mean, it all adds up.


And as you see, you see in our number how much it has added up over time.  And we're trying to explain the reasons that this has occurred.


MS. LONG:  Well, Mr. Warren, I think the witness is giving his personal view on behalf of -- based on his experience, and he is certainly not being proffered as an expert.  And so the Board will consider what we've heard from both parties in respect of this issue.  I think that is fine.


MR. MURRAY:  I would like to now move on to my last issue.  If I could ask if the September 28th, 2018 letter could be pulled up on the screen.  This is a letter that I think there's been some discussion about before, but I just wanted to go back to it.  It is a letter that was written from the MECP to Ms. Tidmarsh with respect to the NextBridge EA, and I am going to focus on two paragraphs.  The first paragraph I want to focus on is the second paragraph.


I don't propose to read it, but based upon my understanding of the second paragraph and kind of the EA timeline requirements, it looks like NextBridge is likely to receive its EA decision sometime in late February or potentially early March.  Would you agree with that?

MS. TIDMARSH:  I would.  And I actually did have a conversation prior to this letter, and MECP can talk about that this afternoon, where they did say that our estimated timeline for February 2019 was appropriate and they agreed with that.

MR. MURRAY:  And the only other thing I want to focus on is the second last paragraph, starting with, "I understand", and I'd just like to read from that.
"I understand that you have ongoing engagement with Indigenous communities regarding the project and are currently discussing the opportunity for communities to participate in the Aboriginal Consultation Advisory Board.  I encourage you to continue these important discussions as the ministry moves forward with its review.  The ministry will also be reaching out to the communities during the review inspection period."

I just wanted to raise -- are there any particular issues that have been raised by Indigenous communities that led to the inclusion of this paragraph in the letter?

MS. TIDMARSH:  No.  So I can give you a little bit of background about the Aboriginal -- it should actually be the Aboriginal Community Advisory Board.  So again, it is not about consultation.  Consultation is you can't -- you cannot discharge consultation just on -- by virtue of having a board.

But we had originally tried to put together -- I think I mentioned this in other testimony -- an Aboriginal Community Advisory Board, and we had a call-out for terms of reference, nominations.  There wasn't a lot of uptake on the board at our development phase.

As we have moved forward to our construction phase, we had let both the OEB know, because this was one of our milestones, and the Ministry of Environment and Climate Change know that we would be reinstating that board.

So they are very interested in it.  They want to make sure that consultation engagement activities with Indigenous communities continue on, even after the environmental assessment is approved.  And so we believe this is probably going to end up being a commitment as part of our environmental assessment that a board will be established, and that it would be a conduit for continued engagement for Aboriginal communities.

MR. MURRAY:  Thank you.  Those are all of Staff's questions.

MS. LONG:  The panel has some questions.
Questions by the Board:


MS. DUFF:  Good morning.  Do you need a break?

MS. TIDMARSH:  Do you want a break?

MR. MAYERS:  We're fine, thank you.

MS. DUFF:  Scenario 1; the stations aren't ready until December 2021, and I understand all of the caveats about that.  Do we have any information in evidence today of what that does to your cost, that therefore the Board says you know what, NextBridge, I know you are ready to go for 2020 but we really don't need it for 2021.

If that is the scenario that's what the Board decides in this combined proceeding, do we have any information of what that does to your costs?

MS. TIDMARSH:  I will just confer with my panel.  Thank you.

[Witness panel confers.]

MS. TIDMARSH:  So if NextBridge did not have to accelerate to ensure that it was going to meet a December 2020 date, and a decision was made and communicated to NextBridge by the Board that the 2021 date was more appropriate, we believe that we could actually bring the costs in lower than what we have.

So we have some costs in there that are -- you can see in IR 49 there's four caveats about doubling up on management crews and that type of thing.

So we think that we will still be within the plus or minus 10 percent band, but we could be tighter on that.

MS. DUFF:  Does that change your -- what is it called? -- the AACE Class 2?  I mean, does that change you being in that class?

MS. TIDMARSH:  No.  So the AACE Class 2 is about the scope and how much design and work that's done on the project.  So the scope is still the same; the scope has always been same.  And so it doesn't change that kind of estimate, but it does with the work that we would be able to do -- and then -- but I will say it depends on what timing.  So if it is just four months in, so if it is April 2021, it would be different than December 2021.

So we would actually have to have those conversations, but there would be less cost for compression in our schedule.

MS. WALDING:  But there would be additional -- as we have pointed out on the record before, there would be additional interest during construction that customers would be subject to.

MS. DUFF:  Yes, Ms. Walding, actually I was going to ask you.  So there is escalation in costs?  You are buying it much later than --


MS. WALDING:  No.  So we have plans of how to mitigate that, if Mr. Mayers --


MR. MAYERS:  So the contract already takes into consideration escalation, including labour rates, through 2021.  So, you know, we're confident that the -- when I say 2021, it is simply we allowed an extra year of time, you know, from the contractor to ensure that he wasn't going to change his rates on us, try to come in and -- sorry.

MS. TIDMARSH:  Reclamation after the line came in-service?

MR. MAYERS:  Yes.  So, I mean, back to what Ms. Tidmarsh said, what you are basically doing is providing some relief and if indeed this Board chose to modify the in-service date, that the cost could -- we're comfortable with our 737 number and we're not saying -- you know, the 10 percent number is closer to a Class 1; I think we said we're on the cusp of Class 1.  We've kind of been saying we're checking the boxes as we go here.  There's certain things we need to have done to get us in a tighter band.  This leave-to-construct obviously is one, and the EA is the -- is really the biggest key.

MS. WALDING:  The other part, too.

MR. MAYERS:  But we believe we could come in much closer to our 737 number and potentially save some additional money on it.

MS. WALDING:  And there is the -- one of the other things we've talked about on materials because some of the materials we will procure ourselves.

So we what we have already arranged is that we would go ahead and execute those agreements after the leave to construct, such that we lock-down the pricing and that the escalation would then be on the person that we bought the materials from, and they would have to go out and execute a hedge to lock that in to provide those materials to us.

MR. MAYERS:  We have been monitoring the pricing of the owner-supplied materials.  As I said, the contractor has -- he's locked into his price.  He can't change it for any escalation.  He has already made that determination.

MS. DUFF:  And that is the 500-and -- what is the price again?

MR. MAYERS:  I believe that is confidential.

MS. DUFF:  Oh, sorry.  I thought I was looking on the page here, the K4.2.

MS. WALDING:  I think she might be looking at --


MS. DUFF:  I was just looking at this page, sorry.

MR. MAYERS:  Within the contractor's scope and his signed contract today, he's got his escalation for labour and materials.  He's covered.

On our end, it would be escalation related to material procurement, but we're ready to basically let -- we have our structure bids in.  We're ready to actually award that.  It's within our budget, and then we monitor conductor, overhead ground wire and the optical ground wire.  Pricings have been the same.

So, you know, we're confident that our material procurement numbers are good, that we're not going to escalate anything out.

MS. DUFF:  I certainly didn't want to just focus on material procurement.  I am really looking at K4.2 and this price of 736.  Regardless of who is paying it, what are the costs?  There is a potential -- you have already baked in some extension of one year when you were doing your contract.  But also, in terms of these dollars, it wouldn't necessarily increase?  What you're telling me is there's a potential for it to decrease because the compression is no longer required?

MS. TIDMARSH:  So we would obviously have to redo our schedule.  So I talked about the scope for the AACE and how the scope hasn't changed.

So the dollars that are in here, for example, would be, let's talk about Indigenous participation.  No matter what time it is done, those numbers are baked in.

And so sites -- or land.  Land rights.  So again, no matter what time it is done, those costs are static.  We still have -- we still know how many option agreements we need to get, our expropriation.

So those activities and the scope is still the same, and so those costs are still fixed and relevant because --


MS. LONG:  Sorry, I am not quite sure that I understand that.  Let's take, for example, Indigenous participation.  NextBridge took the view when there was a delay in development costs that you needed to continue to do consultation during that time, because the time period had been extended.

So I guess by extension, if this project were delayed by another year, wouldn't you take the same stance that you would need to continue to do consultation through that year and your costs would actually go up?

MS. TIDMARSH:  So as part of our budgets, we would manage to the budget.  And so it is about -- so for example, it is hard to explain, but for consultation it is based on activities, right, and so we're always maintaining a relationship with communities.

And so consultation is a function about what is happening in the project.  And so if those activities are still the same scope and the same activities, the consultation flows along with those activities.

So for example, if there was construction start date and we needed to consult with communities, we would consult then.

So as opposed to the ongoing development stream, we would manage to that budget, but a lot of these things are based on our construction schedule and when we do things in construction.

MS. DUFF:  A few times you referred to, on the cusp of becoming a Class 1.  What will trigger that?

MS. TIDMARSH:  So we've -- when you look at the AACE definition, and so -- and I could have -- Mr. Mayers can talk a little bit more about it, but our design work and all of the scope around our design is close to a Class 1.  The only thing that is missing is any potential conditions that may come from our Environmental Assessment that --


MS. DUFF:  Yeah, I thought you had said that once you get your -- if you get your environmental assessment approved, will you then be Class 1?

MS. TIDMARSH:  Mr. Mayers.

MR. MAYERS:  Yes, yes.

MS. DUFF:  When did you go from Class 3 to Class 2?  What triggered that classification change?  When would Hydro One go from Class 3 to Class 2?  I am trying to draw some reference from your experience.

MR. MAYERS:  Yes.  So --


MS. TIDMARSH:  We are just looking at the classification system here.  There is a bunch of prescribed percentages of design work.  There is a bunch of prescribed things in it that make up a class estimate.  So Mr. Mayers is just taking a look at, is it the percentage of your design work is done.

MR. MAYERS:  Yes, so as part of the AACE summary table, they have a -- on the left-hand side they have a level of project definition.  And when you are just starting out with a project and you've got, like, zero to 10 percent of the things specced, they put you up at like a Class 5 estimate.

And as you continue to improve your scope and get that level of definition down, that is where you get towards the bottom, where you are at the Class 1 estimate.

And the variation in the cost, the percentages, the minuses, the pluses, the top range and low range, they vary based on that until you get down to a Class 1.  By the time you get to a Class 1, you are basically saying that you are still -- you are 50 to 100 percent in scope.  And based on all of the evidence that we have shown, all of the work that's been done in the field, we're talking about a 90 percent engineered project.  We're talking about having everything we need to basically get going other than the approvals.  We're saying with the very high end of that confidence level, but we need the approvals, that being this leave to construct and the environmental assessment, to clearly define the scope.

MS. WALDING:  May we confer so we can answer your question?  I think your question was what it takes to go from a Class 2 to a Class 3; is that correct?  Or Class 3 to Class 2?

MR. MAYERS:  Well, I don't think the answer is going to change much.  It is just the scope definition.  So if you look at the definition for a Class 3, it is 10 to 40 percent of a defined scope.

MS. DUFF:  So a scope which is in a contract, perhaps?  The scope of work in a contract?

MR. MAYERS:  Yes.  And we have one of those, yes.

MS. DUFF:  And is it self-assessed?  I mean, I am not all that familiar with this tool.  This is a tool NextBridge uses.  This is a generic cost estimate matrix.  So this is a tool that you use?

MR. MAYERS:  No.  Actually, ma'am, it's not.

We have our own internal means of estimating project scope and work.  That's why, you know, maybe in this case, Hydro One, this is what they tend to use, and it's something that this Board has heard more often.  It is not something that we tend to use.

We base everything on the amount of scope of work that's done. This kind of tries to summarize that, but even by saying a Class 1 being 50 to 100 percent, it still leaves a little variation there.  I am here to tell you that we're well into the 90s percent of our scope.  We pretty much know everything that we need to know about this project, and that's why we have the confidence in the number that we provided to this Board.

MS. DUFF:  Thank you for the explanation of the use of this chart.  I think I have a better understanding now.

MR. MAYERS:  You're welcome.

MS. DUFF:  But this 10 percent, this plus -- this is critical.  This is critical to what your costs are, plus or minus 10 percent.

The plus 10 percent, how should I regard that if it is not a contingency?  There is going to be a panel in the future, a very smart panel, but it may not be us, and they're going to go back to this proceeding, they're going to go back to the decision we are going to issue.

If NextBridge gets this contract, what is the number that they're going to start to use as a benchmark?  Is it the 736?  Or is it this 811, this additional 10 percent?  Can you help me?

MS. TIDMARSH:  Yes.  I just want to make sure we confer, because it is multi -- it is all of us together to come up with that answer.

MS. DUFF:  Yes.

[Witness panel confers.]

MS. TIDMARSH:  Thank you.  So NextBridge is going to be managing to the 737, which includes a contingency as part of that, so the $50 million in contingency.  And so that is the project on the defined scope.

The plus or minus 10 percent is what we call a management reserve for unknown unknowns.  I keep using these.  It gets sticky, but unknown things that could come out of nowhere.

And so we are trying to show that there are some things we don't know, but the things that we know in our risk register and our contingency, we are going to manage to the 737 is our price.

MS. DUFF:  The known unknowns, obviously it is not really a comfortable test.  The point is your contingency is based on your risk register.  It has to be known; you wouldn't have put a line item in, so it is known.

MS. TIDMARSH:  Yes.

MS. DUFF:  We just don't know if it is going to happen or not.  It's a probability.

MS. TIDMARSH:  Yes.

MS. DUFF:  And if it does happen what will be the cost; that is the unknown part.

MR. JANIGAN:  Can I break in just for a minute here, make sure that I've got -- the unknown unknowns is the 10 percent?


MS. TIDMARSH:  Yes.

MR. JANIGAN:  The known unknowns is the contingency?  That's right?

MS. TIDMARSH:  Yes.

MR. MAYERS:  That's correct.

MR. JANIGAN:  Okay.

MS. DUFF:  Which is based on the risk register.

MS. TIDMARSH:  Yes.

MS. DUFF:  So I'm a hearing panel in the future.  I want to know, what was part of your -- what should have been in your contingency?  Was the $50 million sufficient or not?  I go to your risk register; that is definitely part of the evidence in this proceeding.  I can go to Hydro One's risk register; that was evidence in this proceeding.  Those were known.

What wasn't known was your -- the percentage that you thought was likely to happen, the probability, and the money that you put aside.  But those are critical elements.

I mean, you have a 50-million-dollar line item, and they've got five.  Why didn't you lower your number?  Why didn't you put in a lower number?  Knowing that this is a critical pricing difference?


MS. TIDMARSH:  So I think there is contingency in Hydro One's project that is not just five.  I believe it's -- their general contractor also has contingency as well, and so --


MR. MAYERS:  Yes.  My recollection is --


MS. TIDMARSH:  You are off.

MR. MAYERS:  The light is -- okay.

MS. DUFF:  It is difficult, I know.

MR. MAYERS:  My recollection is that Hydro One has and SNC's contract has somewhere in the neighbourhood of $60 million in contingency.

I think the concern that you have is that you think we're just sitting on this money.  I mean --


MS. DUFF:  Please don't misinterpret.  I am just trying to compare and contrast the numbers on the page and what they really mean and what is the source of them.  Because one day, whoever is assigned this -- given leave to construct, we're going to be looking at this as a benchmark of some sort.  I am anticipating that they will.

So what was known at the time of this hearing and what was an unknown.  I am trying to get the source -- so please do not interpret that I was reading more into it.

The source of your contingency is your risk register.

MR. MAYERS:  Yes.

MS. DUFF:  And your assessment of the likelihood of that happening and the cost of that, summed up, and it is $40 million?

MR. MAYERS:  And some may happen and some may not.

MS. DUFF:  Then you have this 10 percent management --


MR. MAYERS:  Reserves.

MS. DUFF:  -- reserve, and that has a different purpose?

MS. TIDMARSH:  Yes.

MS. DUFF:  Those are for things that are really unknown.

MR. MAYERS:  That come out of the blue.

MS. DUFF:  If you knew it, you would put it in your risk register, right?

MS. TIDMARSH:  Yes.

MS. DUFF:  When I compare your bid to Hydro One's, they have a bunch of off-page things which they haven't had a contingency.  I want to know where they are in your bid estimate.

And I'm sorry I am going to do this to you, but it was Hydro One's evidence that was the risk elements that they have no contingency for, and they were embedded in their price of 683.

And if you can -- I'm so sorry.  It is Exhibit B, tab 7, schedule 1, page 10, and I asked their panel about the list that was on here.  And what I am trying to find out from you is when you look at these individual items, there's one, two, three, four, five bullet points, where they are in your bid.  I am just trying to compare and contrast.

MS. TIDMARSH:  Sure.

MS. DUFF:  Oh, thank you very much.  Want to take a second to read this over?

MS. WALDING:  Yes, just a moment.

MS. TIDMARSH:  Thank you.

MS. DUFF:  You weren't here the other day, I don't think you were in the hearing room, but I asked this panel about what the heading meant, "Risk elements not included in the Hydro One price", and they said that price was the 683 million.  It is not the 624; they clarified that for me.

[Witness panel confers.]

MS. TIDMARSH:  So, yes, we've conferred and Mr. Mayers is going to start off with going through these list of five.

MS. DUFF:  Thank you.

MR. MAYERS:  So labour disputes are covered in our contract.  The contractor is not entitled to a labour dispute; if he's got issues, he's got to correct them.  If he doesn't have enough people, he has got to get enough people.

MS. DUFF:  Okay.

MR. MAYERS:  Safety or environmental incidents, we have insurance that covers that.  The contractor has insurance.

MS. DUFF:  Not covered by the insurance program.

MR. MAYERS:  I am not quite sure what that would mean outside of --


MS. DUFF:  Can you give me an example?

MR. MAYERS:  They're talking about environmental incidents.  Here again, if there is any violations, you know, that we don't meet a specific condition or requirement --


MS. TIDMARSH:  Sorry, I think it might be like safety or environmental.  If there was a spill, a massive spill on this transmission line, or if there was -- someone was injured.

But like Dan said, both the parent companies and the general contractor have insurance.

MR. MAYERS:  So safety is both NextBridge and the contractor's responsibility.

In addition, he's got an environmental management plan.  So I don't -- I am a little confused by it.  But I believe we've encompassed those things.  It's typical.  I can't think of something that is just so far out there that -- but we have measures in place to cover both safety and environmental incidents, and the contractor has insurance and we have insurance.

But if it goes beyond that, I don't know what that would be.

MS. DUFF:  Okay.  The next one?

MR. MAYERS:  Significant changes in cost, commodity rates and/or exchange rates.  I think we talked about that.  We're globally sourcing materials.  Our structures are definitely sourced outside.  They will come in.  They will be in Canadian dollars.  There are no exchange rate -- everything that we're doing as far as our contracts with materials are -- they're going to be -- there won't be any exposure to any commodity changes.  The contract will be signed based on the date we -- based on the date we sign the contract, we will have a commodity price and there won't be any agreement to additional commodity prices.

So it is up to the vendor to hedge his bets as to what he foresees, if there are going to be exchange rates.

Our contract will be signed.  It will be a fixed-price contract and he will deliver based on the schedule that is within the contract.

MS. DUFF:  So bullet point number 3 is within the contract?

MR. MAYERS:  Yes.

MS. WALDING:  I think we talked about there's two different pieces of that.  There's part of the materials that are part of the contract, and then part of the materials that we will mitigate this through going ahead and procuring.

MS. DUFF:  Maybe that distinction isn't important.  Is it part of the 737?

MR. MAYERS:  Yes, it is.

MS. TIDMARSH:  Yes it is.

MS. DUFF:  That actually is the bottom line of all of this.

MR. MAYERS:  Yes, it clearly is.

MS. DUFF:  And any conditions imposed by regulatory bodies or government agencies.

MS. TIDMARSH:  So this would be -- I assume what's meant in here would be extra permitting conditions from the environmental assessment, extra work, any conditions that are imposed in the MNRF permits.  I think -- so I think we discussed yesterday, we talked about our permitting program at least from an environmental standpoint and how we have been working with these agencies for the past five years.

You can see in our risk register -- so back to your point about are they covered in the 737.  In our risk register, we outline all of the permits and the permitting conditions.  And so it is included in the 737, and we've reduced those risks through conversations with MNRF and MECP.

MS. DUFF:  I understood you saying that the environmental assessment, to the extent -- you know there is going to be conditions, is that right?

MS. TIDMARSH:  Yes, we do.

MS. DUFF:  To the extent you know what they are today if they're a known, are they included in your 737?

MS. TIDMARSH:  Yes, they are.

MS. DUFF:  Force majeure.

MR. MAYERS:  Force majeure is in our contract; it is article 8.  We are confident that all force majeure events, as stated in our contract, are covered.

MS. DUFF:  Thank you.

MR. MAYERS:  You're welcome.

MS. DUFF:  Mr. Garner had a line of questioning yesterday and he used the word competitive.  It struck me.

In your opinion, is this combined hearing a competitive process?

MS. TIDMARSH:  In my opinion, no.

MS. DUFF:  And what are the factors that lead you to that conclusion?

MS. TIDMARSH:  So a competitive process would be where there's an even baseline between two projects, and we've had those discussions, their development about comparing apples to mangoes.

So you have one project on the NextBridge side that has done quite a lot of work, that has quite a lot of information and has done all of this work.  And you have a project from the Hydro One side that has quite a lot of unknowns.

And I think that to compare the two is very difficult.  It is obvious that the Board and all of the intervenors were all having problems trying to compare the two together.

I think that in a competitive process as well, when you talk about competitive transmission -- so NextEra has bid into quite a few competitive transmission projects, and there is lots of different ways to do competitive transmission, but there would be -- straight upfront there would be a conversation about the -- at the very, very beginning, what type of pricing mechanisms would you be using?  What is your price at this point?  Where -- you would have to know that you have signed --


MS. DUFF:  You have to know?  Can you be more specific?

MS. TIDMARSH:  Sorry, NextEra or -- if they went into a competitive bid process, would treat it much differently than this.  There would be -- there would be an outline from the beginning from -- for example, if the IESO were to run a competitive transmission, there would be an outline of the types of things that they would need to see, evaluation criteria, and how you could compare on each evaluation criteria.  So similar to what the designation -- the competition for the designation process was.

And so here we are -- also, in my personal opinion, at this point in time there is just two players.  And so there was no open, you know, could you -- maybe I am going way out on a limb here, but what if AltaLink wanted to come in, what if Fortis wanted to come in.  These --


MS. DUFF:  These are players from the designation proceeding.

MS. TIDMARSH:  Right.  And so they're not here to provide -- they weren't invited to the table in a competitive process.

So I think what you have here is you've got a project that is well-baked.  You have a project that has come in just this year, and it is very hard for everyone to try and compare, because there is no list of criteria on how to compare these two projects together.

MR. MAYERS:  My --


MS. DUFF:  Please.

MR. MAYERS:  Sorry.  So you have heard a little bit about my concerns on competition throughout the last couple of days.  One of them I've mentioned specifically, right-of-way, access, crossings.  Unfortunately, when we talk about competition, it is hard -- it's very difficult for a non-incumbent to come and play ball in an incumbent's territory.

And when we start talking about, you know, things like how I can reduce my cost and save money, and tell you that my right-of-way didn't have to be that wide if we could have had a sharing agreement of some sort or I might have had a different access plan to get to my structures if I could have used HONI's access, those are things that, it's a trickle-down effect.

I mean, it's -- if I have -- I used the example before.  If I have less right-of-way, even if it is ten metres of less right-of-way, that is less land I have to procure from somebody.  It is less trees I have to cut.  It is less access to get to it.  And then ultimately it is less O&M costs for it.

So when you have an incumbent that has an advantage of just saying no, and it forces you to do something that a lot of utilities do -- there is shared right-of-way.  And there is shared agreements on crossings.  We had 74 transmission line crossings in that Lone Star project I mentioned with multiple utilities.  That is not even counting the distribution crossings.  We didn't have -- we were signing agreements in months, you know, a couple of months.  Not long periods of time.  So --


MS. DUFF:  Hydro One could say that NextBridge had an unfair advantage.  You have been on the ground for five years.  You were the designated transmitter.  You met with people.  You built relationships.

How does that change your answer?  Do you think that that is a relevant consideration into considering competitiveness?

MR. MAYERS:  My understanding was Hydro One looked at this line in 2010.  My understanding -- I have seen documents where, I believe SNC-Lavalin worked with them.  There was going to be some decision to --


MS. TIDMARSH:  To go move forward.  I think, I mean, if we talk about when Hydro One entered this process, and that we have seen documentation about entering the process in November 2017, contemplating, there is nothing in any of the -- in fact, in the decision and order for the designation process, it doesn't prevent anyone from putting in a leave-to-construct and it doesn't put any timing around when someone would put into a leave-to-construct.  It just prevents them from recovering their development costs.

And so do we have a competitive advantage because of the development costs?  The recovery of such, yes.  But they could have had conversations with these communities for the past five years.  There is nothing precluding them from doing that.

MS. DUFF:  Okay.  Is there anything else on that?  I just want to go on to another area of questions.

There was a document filed this morning, the K7.1, and I just wanted to talk about it.  It was the 35 million that has been spent between July 2017 and September 2018.  Perhaps that could be put up.

And today you used words like you have had no authority to move off the 2020 date.  Thank you.  And you have had no authority to move off the 2020 date.  So part of your application to the Board is your ability to meet that 2020 in-service date.

MS. TIDMARSH:  That's correct, yes.

MS. DUFF:  Fair?  But after you filed the leave-to-construct application, which ended the designation part of this development work, these are costs that you have decided to bear.  Is that not a proper characterization?  I mean, you've, as a company, decided to spend 18.6 million on construction and materials for a leave-to-construct that you have not yet received.

MS. TIDMARSH:  Yes.  There is quite a lot of money that NextBridge has put at risk in this project.  And so when the leave-to-construct was filed November 2017 -- sorry, July 2017, we continued to spend thinking that we would be granted the leave to construct.

And so in February of 2018 is when this competing leave-to-construct arrived.  And so we continued to spend.  And then we have continued to keep spending.  And you are right, we have been putting a lot at risk, all three companies, in order to move the project forward to a December 2020 in-service date.

MS. WALDING:  And in this kind of large project, you just can't quit spending, or otherwise the project falls apart.  And so part of this was just to even provide a viable option to the Board of continuing this project, is we had to keep on spending -- or like, as an example, your APC person goes away and you don't have that contract any more.  So a lot of this is just to even have a viable project to present.

MS. TIDMARSH:  I think the other piece I would add, too, is some of the spending is on environmental process, environmental, and moving our environmental assessment forward.  And so whoever builds this project is going to need an environmental assessment.  And so you have heard that Hydro One would like to use -- has been -- would like to use the public versions of our environmental assessment.  So we keep moving the project forward in order to get the EA.  If we didn't spend anything, no one is going to be able to get an environmental assessment at all.

I am not saying we're doing it out of altruism.  I am just saying that you have got to move the -- you have got to get that approval to get the construction.

MS. DUFF:  Well, as part of the development phase, though, part of the environmental -- the idea was to have one party --


MS. TIDMARSH:  Right.

MS. DUFF:  -- do the development steps --


MS. TIDMARSH:  Right.

MS. DUFF:  -- to advance a potential transmission line being built in northern Ontario.

MS. TIDMARSH:  Correct.

MS. DUFF:  So you were doing that.  That is when you were definitely the designated transmitter to do that environmental assessment work.  And what you're saying is even after you filed the leave-to-construct you were still incurring costs related to that EA.  Is that what you just said?

MS. TIDMARSH:  Yes, that's right.

MS. DUFF:  And it is bundled in these cost categories.  Oh, so environmental and regulatory approvals permitting and site remediation, it is in that line of the 5.4 million?

MS. TIDMARSH:  It is, yes.  That also includes all of the permitting work for and the field studies for any of the MNRF permits as well.

MS. DUFF:  And this environmental assessment, the work, the public information, the non-public information, there's been some discussion about it.

But when you were hired as the designated transmitter to do the development work, what proportion of the work did you do?  And I'm sorry to put you on the spot like this, but just, that was really transferrable to potentially Hydro One.

Of that environment you said there is public information.  But then there is this other bucket called non-public, and I don't understand.  I am trying to understand the different dimensions or -- is there some subcategories?  Is there intellectual property?  Is there some treaty, territory information?

I don't know.  What kind of buckets are there in this non-public information category?

MS. TIDMARSH:  Yes.  I think you have hit on them.

MS. DUFF:  Can you describe them for me?

MS. TIDMARSH:  A lot of them are the field data.  So there is a lot of the information, the granular detail of where you would find each species or each element that you were studying as part of the environmental assessment.  So that is the type of granular information that you need for permitting.

MS. DUFF:  Do you consider that intellectual property?  Or do you think that would be some information that could be passed on to Hydro One?

MS. TIDMARSH:  I personally don't have any -- I don't have any experience in intellectual property law or what's -- so I can't opine on what --


MS. DUFF:  Fair enough.  But there is no clear distinction right now.

MS. TIDMARSH:  Right --


MS. DUFF:  As you were talking today, you haven't released that information to Hydro One?

MS. TIDMARSH:  No, we haven't released that information.  There is other information in there.  For example, you mentioned the traditional knowledge.

So that granular detail, we have come by that granular detail with agreements between Indigenous communities.  So they have provided that information to us, and so that is also not part of the public --


MS. LONG:  Can I just ask a question of clarification?  Can you explain to me why field data is not made public?

MS. TIDMARSH:  So field data -- so, for example, there's a -- I am really getting detailed here.

MS. LONG:  I like it, actually.  I am trying to understand the difference.

So, you know, the traditional knowledge studies, I understand that NextBridge entered into agreements with Indigenous communities.  And so that is by contract and I guess I'd call it a difficult piece.

But for actual field work that was paid through development dollars by ratepayers, I am trying to understand how -- whoever builds this, ratepayers paid for that information, why that is not made public.  Can you help me with that?

MS. TIDMARSH:  Yes.  So for example, there is a species of plant that only comes up every five years, and it's in our -- the territory of the environmental assessment.

We worked with MNRF, received some of their data, went out -- which is confidential, which could be obtained by other proponents; that's fine.  But we worked with them,  found out where it was, went on to the ground, found out where this type of plant might be, brought that information.

Again MNRF, wants to keep that information confidential because it is such a sensitive species that they don't want people trampling on it or picking it.

So that is kind of one of our examples of the confidential information.

MS. LONG:  But that is another body saying this is confidential.  That is not NextBridge taking the position that it is confidential?

MS. TIDMARSH:  Right, right.

MS. LONG:  Is that a fair distinction?

MS. TIDMARSH:  Yes.  I think the other thing, if we talk about field data, so from my understanding is if we shared information, so granular details that another person relied on and it turned out to be incorrect, I mean that individual then or that company that relied on the data that we provided could then come back to us and say, you know, we found -- you said there wasn't any species here.  To the best of our knowledge, there wasn't.  There is a species at risk here.

And then we end up getting into -- again I am getting -- I won't lie.  I think this is a big legal question about what is confidential and what is not confidential.  So I think that, the conversation needs to be had with lawyers.

MS. WALDING:  What Ms. Tidmarsh was saying at the beginning is a lot of it is classified as confidential by the MNRF and not by us.

MS. TIDMARSH:  It is.

MS. LONG:  That is an important distinction.  I hadn't appreciated that.  Thank you.

MS. DUFF:  Those are my questions.

MS. LONG:  I just have a few questions for you.  One of the things that Member Duff discussed with you was the exclusions from price, and one of the ones was conditions by regulatory agencies.

I put this question to Hydro One, and I will put it to you:  Are you expecting that any conditions of this Board would increase your costs, or have those been factored into your costs?

MS. TIDMARSH:  So we have not factored-in any conditions of this Board into our costs.

If and when those conditions end up being part of a leave to construct, we will consider them, and have -- I guess we will know then at that point in time.

MS. LONG:  You had a discussion about this, the 737 price, and I am sorry to come back to it again.  But I want to be crystal clear on this.

So the construction budget that you are asking this Board to consider is the 737.  And if you were granted the leave-to-construct and you came back in three years or four years and your costs were $740 million, would NextBridge take the position that those $3 million were at risk?  Or would you take the position that they were within the upper, you know, 10 percent, and therefore they were not at risk because they were within that $811 million?

MS. TIDMARSH:  So from my understanding, all costs are at risk.  And so I think when we had our -- and so and subject to prudency review by the Board.

So I think that when we came back with our costs and if they exceeded the 737 -- so we maintain our cost is 737.  And if we come back with costs above that or even costs that are in it, we want to ensure that they were spent properly and appropriately within it.

So we would be subject to a prudency review.

MS. LONG:  I agree.  I mean, the Board was always looking to see what construction costs are and if they're prudently spent.  But I am trying to understand if there is a different test, that you would make the argument that there is a different test because it was within the 811.

But I think, if I understand your evidence, you're saying no, 837 is our price.

MS. TIDMARSH:  Yes.

MS. LONG:  Okay.  Hydro One spoke of a two-prong --


MS. TIDMARSH:  Sorry, you said 837.  You meant 737.

MS. LONG:  Sorry, I mean 737.  Hydro One spoke of a two-prong test for recovery of amounts not included in their construction budget, and they said if they came back, the Board would consider whether costs were reasonable and whether they were not foreseeable.

So do you take that position as well?

MS. TIDMARSH:  So I think the plus or minus 10 percent we talked about would be the not foreseeable portion of what our costs would be.  So they're not part of the 737.  They're the -- I'm not going to mention it again, but I don't think -- I think it is up to the Board and in the Board's purview on the test on the costs.

So we are not suggesting how the Board would interpret our costs.

MS. LONG:  So do I understand your evidence that everything that is foreseeable is within the 737?

MS. TIDMARSH:  In our contingency.

MS. LONG:  Well, your contingency is your 50 million within your 737, right?

MS. TIDMARSH:  Correct.

MS. LONG:  So anything above the 737 is not foreseeable at this point?

MS. TIDMARSH:  At this point, yes.

MS. WALDING:  And I think that we would also view that, as a company, that anything above the 737 would be at risk and we would be subject to coming back to the Board and having to explain why it was an unknown and having that subject to prudency, in addition to the original 737.

MS. LONG:  My last question is with respect to this September 28th letter from Annamaria Cross, which you looked at this morning.

And I just want to understand a bit better how that fits into the change in schedule that you are contemplating, so the change from construction in the fall to the spring.

Does that in any way affect the EA, or the timing of the EA because there would be a change?

MS. TIDMARSH:  No, it doesn't.

MS. LONG:  It does not.  Okay, thank you very much.  Those are my questions.

MR. JANIGAN:  Thank you.  I just have a few questions.  First of all, let me expand on Chairman Long's questions with respect to amounts above the 737 million within the 10 percent band.

As I understand your answer, the two-prong test is in place there.  Expenses have to be reasonable, and they have to be not foreseen at the time your leave-to-construct was approved, in order to be approved by the Board?

MS. TIDMARSH:  I think that is -- the Chairman was saying that is Hydro One's position.

MR. JANIGAN:  Yes.

MS. TIDMARSH:  So how those costs are evaluated we think is in the purview of the Board.  So if there is a two-pronged approach the Board wishes to make similar to what Hydro One is proposing on our costs, then that is the purview of the Board.

MR. JANIGAN:  Now, what about costs that may be above the 10 percent band?

MS. TIDMARSH:  So we're saying that our -- I think it would have to be in the nature of what those costs are.  I would assume that they would -- I don't know if they were known to us, or unknown to us.

I think we're saying that the plus or minus 10 percent band for us is how certain we are about our cost of 737.

So the plus or minus 10 percent band we keep talking about is a classification of scope.  It is the AACE Class 2, almost Class 1 scope.  So it is about the scope of the project.  And because we are so certain about the scope of the project, it minimizes the potential for movement on a plus or minus.

MR. JANIGAN:  Yes.  But how can the Board be certain about the costs are not going to go above that 10 percent level?

MS. TIDMARSH:  I think the evidence that we've been presenting on how sure we are about our project and how many years we have been working on it and all of the design and the engineering work, again, you know, it's -- we believe that we have a strong shovel-ready project with cost certainty, signed EPC contracts.  You have heard us talk about that pretty much, I would almost dare to say ad nauseum for some people over the past three days.  So we believe we have a baked project, and that is why we are with our 737 so sure that we can come in within a 10 percent band of that.

MR. JANIGAN:  I get that.  But in let's say four years' time you're back and the costs are above the 10 percent.  What can the Board rely upon to say, look, this is what you told us you would spend with a 10 percent band, and now you are coming back with costs that are greater than this.  You said you had a fully-baked project and this sort of thing.

I mean, I guess what kind of security can the Board have with respect to, you know, costs above the 10 percent band, which is effectively your security, your management reserve?  What can the Board have in terms of some sort of security above that amount?

MS. TIDMARSH:  So when we come in in 2020 for our rate case and we come in, and if our costs were higher, obviously, again, it is the same type of review that we did for our development work as well.  We went through hearings.  We had an opportunity to justify our overspending, if there was going to be any overspending.  And again, the Board could then determine if these costs were prudent or if these costs would be disallowed.

MR. JANIGAN:  Okay.  But our security for costs above your 10 percent level is basically your reputation?

MS. TIDMARSH:  And the amount of work that we have been doing, yes.  And the amount of evidence that we put into the past few days to talk about how -- sorry, how sure we are about the project.

MS. WALDING:  It is highly on the reputation too.  I mean, we did a competitive transmission across North America.  And to the extent -- sorry.  So we did projects, competitive transmission projects, across North America.  And to the extent that we do not come in on budget on those projects, it is a reputational risk for us winning other projects in the future and being able to grow our business.

MR. JANIGAN:  You are aware that the three reference points with respect to deciding who gets the leave-to-construct are price, quality, and reliability.  On the price standpoint, it seems that the Hydro One LSL application comes in at a lower price.

Now, when we're looking at it, I think NextBridge's position is you can't look at those two prices because they involve two different kinds of applications, or two applications that are certainly in a different stage of readiness.  Is that correct?

MR. MAYERS:  Yes.

MS. TIDMARSH:  That's correct.

MR. JANIGAN:  And effectively you're saying that when we look at it and attempt to compare, effectively your position is Hydro One's costs are underestimated because they're not further along the process.  Is that one of the points that you are making?

MS. TIDMARSH:  There are.  And there is also risk factors as well.  So there is the risk factors --

MR. JANIGAN:  Oh, I am going to get to those.  But the first point is that the costs are underestimated and they have not been fully developed as your costs have.  Is that a fair --

MS. TIDMARSH:  That's fair.

MR. MAYERS:  And they don't have a signed EPC contract.

MR. JANIGAN:  Okay.  Secondly, one of the major points is that they won't be ready for December 2020, assuming that the stations are ready.

MS. TIDMARSH:  So that is their assertion, yes, that they won't be -- that the line will not be able to be in-service if the stations are not available.

MR. JANIGAN:  According to their plan.

MS. TIDMARSH:  According to their plan.

MR. JANIGAN:  Unfortunately, one of their partners is responsible for getting the stations ready.  Is that not the case?

MS. TIDMARSH:  Sorry, can you clarify?

MR. JANIGAN:  Well, you are not -- you are not in a position to make sure that the stations are ready.  It is really your competitor or some affiliate of your competitor that has to do that.

MS. TIDMARSH:  That's correct, yes.

MR. JANIGAN:  Okay.  And I wonder how we're supposed to treat that kind of information.  If the stations aren't going to be ready and you are not in control, then meeting the December 2020 deadline doesn't seem to be that important in assessing between the two bids.

MS. TIDMARSH:  So I agree it is probably difficult to assess.  And so I think the readiness to make a December 2020 means that NextBridge is ready and has a very defined scope to make any date.

So to -- the de-risked part of NextBridge's bid.  So there is a lot of risk.  I think you mentioned you were going to get there, but there is a lot of risk that this Board won't know until a few years from now, and so it's -- or, sorry, at a later stage.  And was that being able to go through the park, getting a declaration order for the environmental assessment.  There are other risks.

So NextBridge is ready to go for a December 2020 with a very baked process and a baked cost.  And so therefore NextBridge could make any date.

MS. WALDING:  And I would just add, you know, the station work is outside of NextBridge's control.  I mean, we can have as many conversations as we want to, but to the extent that that slips even more, it is really the costs to the consumer that need to be considered, and that is not something that we can control or we can drive, you know.

But it would be up to the regulatory body and the Board to make some of those decisions, I would think.

MR. JANIGAN:  And I take it the third element of risk is that the delay beyond the 2021 deadline that they -- Hydro One has set because their project is not so far advanced that they can say with certainty that they will be able to deliver.  Is that a fair statement of what you put forward?

MS. TIDMARSH:  So for clarity you're saying that they're not so far advanced.  They're not sure if they can even meet December 2021, is what you're saying --

MR. JANIGAN:  Well, there is greater risk of them --

MS. TIDMARSH:  Greater risk --

MR. JANIGAN:  -- not meeting that, that deadline, which is of course not -- the 2021 deadline, not the 2020 deadline.

MS. TIDMARSH:  Yes, you are correct.  There is risk beyond that date.

MR. JANIGAN:  And that there is a cost associated with that delay is -- if it occurs?

MS. TIDMARSH:  A cost to consumers, yes, from the IESO's -- the system operation costs.

MR. JANIGAN:  So when we go back and try to assess our -- you know, perform our responsibilities under the statute and look at, you know, price quality and reliability, how do we put that together in terms of looking at price, quality, and reliability?  I mean, those are our three -- those are the three reference points for this decision.

MS. TIDMARSH:  Yes.  And I think we tried to outline that for the Board in our opening statement.  We tried to go through -- we went through cost, and so the cost certainty that NextBridge has based on almost having its environmental assessment, having signed EPC contracts, the costs, the known costs of Indigenous participation, all of those known costs certainties that carry a lower level of risk than the competitor's.

We talked also in our opening statement about reliability and conversations, and I believe Mr. Brott and Mr. Mayers have also talked about how our line has taken into account, after five years of engineering and design work, Mr. Brott is very excited about galloping and about geotechnical work.

And so all of the work that we have done to ensure that this line is reliable, meeting the technical requirements that were provided to us back in -- that were provided in 2011.  So I think from a cost perspective of reliability and quality, the quality of service, Mr. Mayers also spoke about -- I know it is not part of this proceeding, but our O&M costs and our reputation for ensuring that there is a quality of service for ratepayers for our O&M and the quality of this line with all of the work that we've done, our Environmental Assessment, the quality on the design work.  I think that is what we're trying to show.

MS. WALDING:  And I would just add too, that is what we tried to demonstrate in some of the material that was created in Staff 51.  I will just show the colourful chart.

And so what we tried to demonstrate is that at minimum, we believe the Hydro One cost to be the same as ours.  But we believe that the risk and the certainty, the price certainty to you, has a higher risk than ours because it is not as developed.

MR. BROTT:  I would just like to speak to the quality and the reliability.  I am going to read an excerpt out of the minimum technical requirements here.
"As part of the filing requirements for an application for designation, the following shall be filed within the Ontario Energy Board to form part of the public record."


Bullet point 2 says:
"Documentation of where the applicant seeks to differ from technical requirements and evidence as to the equivalence or superiority for use of the proposed variance."


I think these don't say minimum technical suggestions.  They are minimum technical requirements for the reliability and for the quality of this line.

And you know, we haven't been provided enough technical detail from Hydro One to really make a determination if they're meeting these, but through preliminary questioning -- which yet again, there wasn't a lot of detail -- we were still able to see places where I have a lot of concern and we were able to identify at least one place where they were not meeting these minimum technical requirements, which to me should be, you know, a red flag as to the quality and to the reliability.

MS. TIDMARSH:  But just for clarity, NextBridge meets those requirements.

MR. BROTT:  Yes.

MR. JANIGAN:  Thank you very much, panel.  Those are all of my questions.

MS. LONG:  Mr. Cass, shall we take 20 minutes and do redirect?

MR. CASS:  Whatever you wish, Madam Chair.  I can go now.  The panel been going for a long time.  Everyone has been going for a long time.

MS. LONG:  You want a break, don't you?

MS. TIDMARSH:  I don't know how long your redirect might be, Mr. Cass.

MR. CASS:  Whatever people want.  It might be 10 minutes.

MS. LONG:  Why don't we -- to be fair to everybody, why don't we take a few minutes and we will come back at five after.  Thank you.
--- Recess taken at 11:50 a.m.
--- On resuming at 12:07 p.m.

MS. LONG:  Please be seated.  Mr. Cass.

MR. CASS:  Thank you, Madam Chair.
Re-Examination by Mr. Cass:

MR. CASS:  For the purposes of re-examination, I will be looking at a few places in the transcript from yesterday.  That's Volume 6 of the transcript.  The first reference I want to take you to is at the top of page 47.  If that could be brought up on the screen it would be great.

Right.  So the context of this, I believe, is the letter of June 27th, 2018 that Hydro One wrote to the MECP.  And there is a discussion here at the top of the page.  The panel was being asked some questions by Mr. Warren.  And it says:

"I was not part of the -- there was a letter that was written to MECP that talked about the potential for the substations not coming into service to meet the 2020 in-service date.  The letter was not to NextBridge, and it discussed the need to have a meeting."

And it says:

"There was a meeting that occurred, and as part of that meeting a schedule was presented that had a 2020 in-service date for the station work."

In addition, there was some evidence, I believe, about a discussion you had, Ms. Tidmarsh, with Ms. Croll.  So what I am hoping that you might be able to do is just walk us through, from NextBridge's knowledge, what happened after that letter of June 27th, 2018.  Could you do that, please?

MS. TIDMARSH:  I could, thank you.

So after that we received the letter.  We -- and you can see in some of the e-mail correspondence between myself and MECP, we reached out -- I met with Ms. Croll.  We e-mailed each other.  We met.  We had a conversation about the project.  We talked about our respective environmental assessments.  And we arranged that we would meet with MECP.

So we contacted MECP and arranged a meeting.  Again, those e-mails are in the public record.  We met with MECP, and Ms. Croll was not in attendance, but someone who works for her was, Yu San Ong.  We put together a joint presentation, so we worked collaboratively to put together a presentation that is also part of the record, and we had that meeting with MECP.

We spoke at length about the schedule, and Ms. Ong was not sure if there was any sort of compression that could be had in the schedule.  We talked about the linkages between the two EAs.  We talked solely about the Marathon substation for most of it.  There was some mention of the Wawa substation as well.

But we talked about the types of permits that were being needed for the footprint around the Marathon station. And then at the end of the meeting, it was discussed that there would be a follow-up with MECP and with Hydro One to discuss the schedule as well and see if there was any efficiencies, and they would meet afterwards, and that NextBridge was not needed as part of any of those discussions.

MR. CASS:  So what was the meeting you referred to here in the testimony where a schedule was presented that had a 2020 in-service date?

MS. TIDMARSH:  So that is the meeting that we had with MECP, and as part of the collaborative deck that we put together is the schedule for the Marathon substation.  I believe it has come up on the screen a few times, but it talks about a delay in the July approval for the class EA, but at the very bottom it talks about the schedule at the bottom.  It says a 2020 in-service date for the station work.

MR. CASS:  And what was the timing of that meeting, roughly?

MS. TIDMARSH:  That meeting was in July.  I believe it was -- I think it is in the evidence, but I believe it was probably the mid to end of July.

MR. CASS:  Okay, thank you.

So next, panel, I would like to turn to page 81 of the same transcript from yesterday.

So starting at line 4, there is a discussion of the detailed project plans.  And I believe, if I recall correctly, that it was indicated that there are 11 things called work fronts or segments in respect of which these plans would be prepared, just to get the context.

MS. TIDMARSH:  Mr. Brott.

MR. BROTT:  Yes.

MR. CASS:  So the questioning here was about your timing on the first one that you are working on.  And the indication at line 21 of page 81 is the timing of the first one is a couple of months.

So I just wanted to take that out further.  What is your expectation, if NextBridge were to be granted leave to construct, about the timing of completing the rest of these?  That is my simple question.

MS. TIDMARSH:  So I can start and Mr. Brott can add on.  And so because we've talked about the projects being in different work fronts, and each detailed project plan is due before each work front.  It helps us get our permitting.  So this first one is the first one we have done.  So we have been working on it.  We will now from there have a template, and we will be moving forward and getting each one of those detailed project plans well in advance of when the next segment begins and we need all of our permits.

And so we now have this template.  We anticipate that as we move forward in construction those detailed project plans will flow as that happens.

MR. CASS:  All right.  Thank you.

Then the final reference from this transcript I would like to take you to is -- starts at page 204, please.  And it carries over to page 206.  So again, just for context, at line 16 to 18 of page 204, I think it was you, Mr. Mayers, you were talking about a comparison matrix as between Hydro One and NextBridge on the basis of which you were making some comments about project management by NextBridge.

Am I okay just on the context?

MR. MAYERS:  Yes.

MR. CASS:  Okay.  So then where I really want to take you is page 206, where Mr. Warren spoke up as a result of your evidence.  And he referred to $6 million in project management in the budget of Hydro One.

I just wanted to ask you, are you aware of the $6 million that Mr. Warren has referred to, and does that affect the evidence that you were giving in any way?

MR. MAYERS:  Well, I am aware of it now.  I wasn't aware of it at the time.  But the discussion that we were having at that time was about the matrix, and the matrix that I am referring to had basically little stars in the block that basically showed down the left-hand side what the activity was and whether NextBridge or Hydro One was undertaking that activity.

And what I was pointing out was if you clearly look at the gaps, the areas that don't have a little star in them, you will note that I don't recall seeing anything under project -- there is a project controls, and I think there is, as I said, there was something in relation to a design review and a point where they were actually going to be completing their provisional acceptance and then final acceptance.  But there is a large gap in between.  And I don't recall seeing anything on project management.

MS. TIDMARSH:  I think, for clarity, just the $6 million in project management, I am not sure which part of the budget, if that is in SNC's project management or if that is Hydro One's project management.  Project management could be a lot of different things.

So for example, in NextBridge's project management we have unpacked that a few times, and it is for things like people who do our financial work, people who keep our project going and operational.  So I am not sure what is included in the 6 million and if it is associated with the management of the actual SNC contract.

MS. WALDING:  But just to be clear, in a comparison to NextBridge's cost, that 6 million is the same as what Ms. Tidmarsh just described for us, and we have 4.9 million, and it is not part of our E&C budget.

So what Mr. Mayers is talking about is actually the overall construction project management.  What this line item is, is it is overall project budget, and so it is some of the budget items, it is some of the overall project director cost, and it is not specific engineering field, people on the ground, things like that, overseeing construction.

So there are two different project managements that are being discussed.

MR. BROTT:  Is there a way to pull up the SEC compendium?  Because the matrix that Mr. Mayers was speaking to is in the SEC compendium, so we can look at it and clear this up.

MR. CASS:  Stephanie, I was only referring to one document, but, thank you.

MR. MAYERS:  We don't want to belabour the Board.

MR. CASS:  We can bring it up.  I didn't mean to suggest we wouldn't bring it up.  I think she's got it here, so you might as well complete the answer.

MR. BROTT:  Just so we can all see what he meant by matrix.

MR. MAYERS:  Stef, if you could go back to the screen you just had up and, we will scroll down the left side there.  It is a three-page document.

MS. DUFF:  Is that the work comparison with the yellow?

MR. MAYERS:  Scope of work, division of responsibilities.

MS. DUFF:  Is that the one?

MS. TIDMARSH:  Yes, that's the one, thank you.

MR. MAYERS:  So if you look at the column that says "Hydro One", the first thing you are looking at is project development.  This is the top category, and then you are looking at all of the environmental work.

If you continue to scroll down, on the second page under "labour" -- you can stop right there for a moment.  Under item 2.12, project controls and reporting, project --there is construction management.  There doesn't appear to be any Xs in the box there.  But a little further down, there is one under "design review".

And then if you'll continue to scroll down, continue, again we go through some external engagement stuff, crossings and facilities.  Keep scrolling down, please.

At the bottom, the only other thing that shows Hydro One engaged is in final acceptance and in-service switching, and then invoicing at the bottom.

MS. TIDMARSH:  So that is what Mr. Mayers was basing his discussion on.

MR. CASS:  All right, thank you, panel.  One final area.  This relates to questions Mr. Murray was asking this morning about discussions with Valard around the price.

What was the outcome of the discussions you have referred to at the senior management level with Valard about whether the price remains unchanged with the construction start moving from the fall of 2018 to June of 2019?

MR. MAYERS:  The answer was 737, plus/minus 10 percent.

MR. CASS:  Thank you.  Thank you, Madam Chair.  Those are my questions.

MS. LONG:  Thank you.  Thank you very much for your evidence, panel.  You are excused.

I think what we will do, if people are amenable, is take our break now.  But I am wondering if people can -- if we could just take a half-hour lunch break because I see the witnesses are here from MECP, and I want to be respectful of their time.

So if we could just take a quick break and be back at ten to one, with that panel up and ready to go.  Okay, thank you very much.
--- Luncheon recess taken at 12:20 p.m.
--- On resuming at 12:57 p.m.
Preliminary Matters:


MS. LONG:  Just before we get started, Mr. Murray has reminded me that, Mr. Buonaguro, you had asked for an undertaking from the IESO, and I understand that you and Mr. Zacher have had some discussions and that undertaking is no longer required?

MR. BUONAGURO:  Yes.  That was Undertaking J4.2, and based in part on the redirect and then subsequent off-the-record discussion with Mr. Zacher about what that meant, we're --


MS. LONG:  You're satisfied?


MR. BUONAGURO:  -- we're satisfied with the answer, so --


MS. LONG:  Okay.

MR. BUONAGURO:  -- we don't need to follow up on the undertaking --


MS. LONG:  All right.  Thanks very much.  Then I turn to Mr. Adamson and the witnesses, Mr. Evers and Ms. Cross.  We thank you for being here today to answer some of our questions.

I am wondering if, Mr. Adamson, you're able to introduce the panel of witnesses and then we will have them affirmed.

MR. ADAMSON:  Sure.  I would be happy to do that.

Just to start for the record, because I have been following in the transcript, there is some confusion over the name of the ministry, which is --


MS. LONG:  Yes, there is.  Maybe you could clarify --


MR. ADAMSON:  -- as we know, it's Ministry of the Environment and Conservation and Parks, but whoever is in charge of acronyms has determined that in the switch from Climate Change to Conservation and Parks, our O has been dropped, so the proper acronym is MECP.  Don't ask me why.

MS. LONG:  Thank you.

MR. ADAMSON:  Our panel is Annamaria Cross, who has been the manager of the ministry's Environmental Assessment Services Section of the Environmental Assessment Permissions Branch since November 2012.  She manages a team that works on environmental assessment projects, including class environmental assessments and individual environmental assessments.  And one of her duties is to hold pre-submission meetings with proponents.

Mr. Andrew Evers is a supervisor with the environmental assessment services section.  He joined the ministry in March 2014, and he manages a team that leads the review of individual environmental assessments and provides regulatory guidance to proponents based on the requirements of the Environmental Assessment Act and its regulations.

MR. JANIGAN:  I take it the witnesses are ready to be affirmed?

MR. ADAMSON:  Yes.
MINISTRY OF THE ENVIRONMENT, CONSERVATION AND PARKS - PANEL 1

Annamaria Cross,
Andrew Evers; Affirmed.

MS. LONG:  We're going to begin with questions from Board Staff.
Cross-Examination by Mr. Murray:

MR. MURRAY:  Good morning -- I guess good afternoon, panel.  I recognize your faces from the technical conference, but once again, my name is Lawren Murray, and I am counsel to Board Staff.  And I would like to start a discussion here today by talking a little bit about the current status of NextBridge's environmental assessment, and for that I was hoping we could pull up a letter dated September 28th, 2018.

Now, this is a letter that -- from September 28th, 2018 that I believe, Ms. Cross, you wrote to Jennifer Tidmarsh at NextBridge, correct?

MS. CROSS:  That's correct.

MR. MURRAY:  And the purpose of this letter was to provide an update of the current status of the NextBridge environmental assessment?

MS. CROSS:  That's correct.

MR. MURRAY:  And I would like to focus on the second paragraph of the letter, in particular starting, third line down, "it is anticipated".  The letter writes:

"It is anticipated that following the translation, formatting, and accessibility and printing, the review should be ready to be made public by the end of October for a five-week public inspection period.  The commencement of the inspection period will be signalled by the ministry with the issuance of the notice of completion."

And at this point I would just like to go back to the original evidence that we filed in May so I can figure out exactly where we are in kind of the environmental assessment flow chart.

So I would ask that the ministry evidence from May be pulled up.  And I am looking to go to the page 11 of the document titled "Appendix A, environmental assessment process "timelines".

Are these still the accurate kind of process timelines for environmental assessments?

MS. CROSS:  Yes, they are.

MR. MURRAY:  And if I understood your letter correctly, I think we're at the second-from-bottom middle box called "public inspection of ministry for review".  That is the five-week period you're talking about, correct, starting at the end of October?

MS. CROSS:  Yes.  It actually started today.  The ministry review was published today.  It is available on our website.

MR. MURRAY:  Okay.  So then the five-week period starts today, correct?

MS. CROSS:  Yes.

MR. MURRAY:  And then after that five-week period there is an additional 13 weeks for the Minister's decision.

MS. CROSS:  That's correct.

MR. MURRAY:  So by my math -- and I didn't realize it had been published today -- we're looking at a potential Minister's decision, if the full timelines are taken, on or about the middle of February?  Would that sound about right?

MS. CROSS:  Yes.

MR. MURRAY:  So as I understand it correctly, the 13-week Minister's decision, what happens in this is staff or -- at the ministry prepare some sort of decision package and materials that the Minister ultimately reviews to make the decision; is that correct?

MS. CROSS:  That's correct.

MR. MURRAY:  Can you give me a sense of how much of the time within that 13-week timeline is devoted to that?

MS. CROSS:  It would depend on what sort of issues were raised during the ministry review.  If we received extensive comments that required follow up with a proponent and some back-and-forth to understand how those issues would be resolved, it could take longer for the ministry to prepare its recommendation.  It really depends on what we hear during that comment period.

MR. MURRAY:  Your answer actually leads into my second question.  My understanding is, even during this period of time, this 13-week period, there may be further discussions with the proponent in terms of, if you have questions or issues with respect to the EA clarifying, correct?

MS. CROSS:  That is correct.

MR. MURRAY:  In most cases, though, typically would it go -- how much time -- can you give any sense of how much time would usually be left for the Minister to make decision once that package is received?  Would it be a couple of weeks?

MS. CROSS:  It depends on the project and the issues that have been raised.

MR. MURRAY:  And so I believe you are likely aware that NextBridge is currently forecasting a February EA approval date.  Correct?

MS. CROSS:  Yes.

MR. MURRAY:  And based upon the steps in the process we just discussed, it seems like their timeline for a possible decision seems reasonable.  Would that be fair?

MS. CROSS:  Yes.  But ultimately it is the Minister who makes the decision with the concurrence of Cabinet, and I can't speculate to exact timing.  These are processes, but it will vary.

MR. MURRAY:  So if we could go back once again to the Appendix A, the kind of the flow chart.  What I see under "Minister's options" are there is sort of three boxes.  One is, you could refer to the Environmental Review Tribunal.  Another one is, you could refer to mediation.  And then the third is the Minister can make a decision.

I would like to focus on the first two, so either referring it to the ERT or referring it to mediation.  Is there any reason to believe that NextBridge's current EA would likely go down one of those tracks?

MS. CROSS:  During this five-week comment period there is an opportunity for anyone to submit a request for a hearing.  At this time we're not aware of anyone who plans to, but again, the comment period just started today.

So during the five weeks there may be a request for a hearing.  I can't speculate as to what requests we may have in terms of that.

MR. MURRAY:  And if someone were to request a hearing, is it automatically granted, or does the Minister then consider the merits of that request and whether it should be referred?

MS. CROSS:  The Minister will consider the merits of the request.

MR. MURRAY:  How often are matters referred to the ERT by the Minister based upon comments that are received?

MS. CROSS:  In the last decade there have been none.

MR. MURRAY:  Focusing on now the middle box, the Minister makes a decision.  Once again there is three options.  There is approved, approved with conditions, or refused, and I would like to focus on the middle one, approved with conditions.

MS. CROSS:  Hmm-hmm.

MR. MURRAY:  Appreciating that a decision hasn't been made in this case yet and it will have to be made by the Minister, can you give some examples of the types of conditions that might be attached to a large transmission project such as NextBridge?

MS. CROSS:  Sure.  I will turn it over to my colleague, Andrew Evers.  And actually, the ministry reviewed -- that was published today.  The ministry does give some recommendations as to possible conditions that the Minister may consider, so we would be happy to walk you through some of those.

MR. EVERS:  So there are standard conditions that usually appear in all of our -- or all of the Minister's notices of approval.  Those include completion of the compliance monitoring program submitted to the director of the Environmental Assessment and Permissions Branch.  There is also a requirement to submit annual reports that document the progress made on the project, meeting commitments or meeting the conditions of approval, and that is in line with the compliance monitoring program that will be submitted.

So those are two typical ones.  There is also a typical condition around a complaints protocol allowing -- so the proponent will have to submit a complaints protocol for the ministry for review, and that outlines sort of the process for issues resolution for the public or interested persons to submit complaints during the implementation of the project.  So those are three of the main typical conditions.

Ones that are documented and the ministry review that the ministry is currently considering recommending to the Minister include further consultation with Indigenous communities.  So putting together an Indigenous consultation plan that will outline how and with the community, the types of consultation that will occur with the communities as they progress through implementation of the project.

There is something called a detailed project plan that's been -- is being considered by the Minister for recommendation as a condition of approval.  That project plan will provide further details in terms of site-specific mitigation along the right-of-way or the transmission line, particularly around water courses or where habitat -- wildlife habitat has been identified.

There is also a condition that the ministry is considering recommending around vegetation removal, that vegetation removal should be removed by mechanical means, and if a chemical application is anticipated, that Indigenous communities should be notified of that.

There is likely a condition that's being considered around mitigation around water courses and water course crossings, and there may also be a condition that the ministry is considering recommending around the integration of traditional knowledge going forward through project implementation.

MR. MURRAY:  And this may be part of the detailed project plan, but are sometimes restrictions put down in the environmental assessment in terms of when actual clearing of trees from the land can be done?  Like for example, it can't be done in the spring when birds are nesting; is that something that is done?

MR. EVERS:  Typically, that sort of work sometimes is related to a particular ministry such as the Ministry of Natural Resources and Forestry, if there is a particular species that may be sensitive to an activity and it needs to be done through a certain time of year.  The hope is that that consultation has happened with that ministry ahead of time and it is a commitment in the environmental assessment that they will complete construction or operations -- operational activities during those windows.

But if it has been identified through the process that there is a commitment in the environmental assessment that says that and has been identified, yes, it could be considered that there would be a condition on restrictions to accommodate those factors.

MR. MURRAY:  Are you aware if there is any restrictions in NextBridge's EA in terms of when they can knock down the trees on the line, for example?

MR. EVERS:  I am not aware, no.  I don't know.

MR. MURRAY:  Before we leave the topic of the NextBridge EA, if we could go back to the September 28th letter for just one moment, I would like to focus on the second-last paragraph that reads:
"I understand that you have an ongoing engagement with Indigenous communities regarding the project and are currently discussing the opportunity for communities to participate in the Aboriginal Consultation Advisory Board.  I would encourage you to continue these important discussions as the ministry moves forward with its review.  The ministry will also be reaching out to the communities during the review inspection period."


I just wanted to raise, is there any particular concerns that the ministry has at this point in time with respect to the consultation that has been undertaken?  Am I reading more into that paragraph than perhaps was intended?

MS. CROSS:  What was intended by that paragraph was that the duty to consult does not end because a ministry review has been published, that we would expect there would be continued discussions with communities if they have any issues that they would like to raise.

In addition, the ministry will be following up with communities on the ministry review and any comments that those communities might have on the ministry review or the EA itself.

So it was not meant to say anything beyond the fact that it is a continued conversation.

MR. MURRAY:  And to the extent -- I realize you are not the Ministry of Natural Resources and some of these permits, I think, originate with them.

But assuming NextBridge receives its approval for construction of the transmission line by the OEB before February, and then in February it were to receive its EA approval, can you give us a sense of how long it would take for them to get the relevant permits, or at least the relevant permits that may come from your ministry?

MS. CROSS:  I think that it would be speculative for us to do that.  It would depend on the permit, and I am not aware of how NextBridge may want to phase its project and how it will be applying for permits.  So I am sorry, I can't answer that question.

MR. MURRAY:  I appreciate it might depend on the permit.  They're saying it would likely take them in the range of a month to get the permits they need.  Does that sound like a non-starter?

MS. CROSS:  It would depend on what work has been done to date, and what the natural -- what that permitting ministry feels is appropriate.

MR. MURRAY:  Thank you.  I would like to now move on to a new topic.  I want to talk a little bit about the NextBridge documents that have been filed.

I understand there is sort of at least two buckets of documents.  There is kind of like the public EA and the public documents that are in the public record.  But then there is also other documents that are considered, for lack of a better term, not public or non-public documents.

I was wondering if you could explain the difference between what sort of information is actually available on the public record, and what information is sort of restricted or not available.

MR. EVERS:  So section -- I believe it is section 30 of the Environmental Assessment Act outlines and requires the ministry to keep a public record.  It also outlines what needs to be included in the public record.

So the elements that would need to be included include the terms of reference, the environmental assessment, any supporting documentation that would accompany those documents, correspondence between parties, comments that have been received from interested persons and the government review team, and the proponent's responses would be included in the public record.

There would be -- if there were meeting notes or presentations, those would have to be included in the public record as well.

Things that are not included typically the proponent can identify, if they would like to keep a particular aspect of the documentation confidential.  It is the same with the public or Indigenous communities.  They can identify aspects of the documentation they're providing and what they would like to keep confidential.

And then information that -- legal advice is confidential, and also advice to government or the Minister is confidential and not part of the public record.

MS. CROSS:  Maybe I could just add that the public record is a physical file.  It is not what's on our public website.

MR. MURRAY:  Thank you, that is helpful.  Going back to the what's not on the public record, I understood that you said that if a proponent basically asked certain information to be kept confidential, it is.  Is that for anything?  If they ask for this to be kept confidential, is it automatically kept confidential?  Or is there sort of an evaluation?

MR. EVERS:  We would likely keep it out of the public record.  But there is a process that if somebody wants to see documentation, it is a freedom of information request. So anybody who is interested in viewing the public file or wants to see documentation can submit a freedom of information request to the ministry, and then we would compile the documentation that the person may be interested in.

And at that point, it is determined if a document would be released or not.

MR. MURRAY:  And so the decision that would be made based -- I have a bit of a background with the freedom of information.  So the decision to release or not to release would be based upon the third-party information exemption?   Is that --


MS. CROSS:  It would depend on what specifically the record is.

MR. MURRAY:  So even if stuff isn't on the public record, the non-public information, the ministry, your ministry has copies of that information, like studies or traditional knowledge.  You have them physically in your files; is that accurate?

MR. EVERS:  Yes, not -- we might not have the traditional knowledge studies, though.

MR. MURRAY:  But other studies that have been deemed confidential or asked to be kept confidential, those would be generally at the ministry somewhere?

MR. EVERS:  Yes, yes.  We would likely have them if we requested them, yes.

MR. MURRAY:  And I understand -- and I think you just answered this earlier, but just to confirm, to the extent someone wanted to look at the non-public record, the avenue that they do is they would make a freedom of information request?

MR. EVERS:  Yes.

MR. MURRAY:  As far as you are aware, has Hydro One made a freedom of information request for any documents related to the NextBridge EA?

MR. EVERS:  No.

MR. MURRAY:  I was hoping if we could pull up a copy of the technical conference transcript from May.  I am doing this because I don't want to test your memory, so I just want to take you back to the paragraphs.  And if we could go to page 184 of the transcript.


And here we were having a discussion about the use of information from one party's environmental assessment by another party.  I would like to start by focusing on line 19 and following.  And this is me speaking:

"Now, I'd like to take a step back, and putting aside the issue of ownership and who owns the studies, does the MOECC have a policy that precludes one applicant from using the studies completed by another applicant as part of an EA application?"

Ms. Cross responds:

"We have not seen this before.  So in terms of a policy, there is nothing in writing that allows it or prohibits it.  It would, I guess, depend on a number of factors and on a case-by-case basis."

Then I follow up:

"Perhaps I can give you an example.  Let's suppose that one applicant completed an air quality study over a certain area, and then a second applicant completed a supplemental study for the air quality which wasn't studied as part of the first study.  Could that kind of supplemental study in addition to the original study satisfy the MOECC's requirement with respect to an air quality study.
"Mr. Evers:  Again, I don't think we've ever seen that or we are not aware of that happening.

"So I guess what I'd say is, you're not saying it is a non-starter.  It would depend on a situation, but it's something you could consider at the time. 
"Mr. Evers:  It would likely be something we could consider, yes."

So I wanted to pull up that conversation, and I guess the question I had is, so if it's something that the ministry can consider, at what point would you consider it?  Is this something you would consider at an earlier stage or ultimately only when someone filed their environmental assessment and started referring to studies of an earlier assessment?

MR. EVERS:  So in terms of using information from one EA to supplement information for another environmental assessment, we can't comment on that.  We can't indicate if it would be allowed.

What we can say is that Hydro One does have requirements under the Environmental Assessment Act.  It is the ministry's position that the project is a new project, and they would have to fulfil the requirements under the Environmental Assessment Act, and whatever information they submit in terms of their environmental assessment we would review in the context at that time.

Where they gather that information is -- as long as they're meeting the requirements of the Environmental Assessment Act and our technical requirements, that is what we're looking for.  We are looking for the merits of the information that is contained in that documentation.

MR. MURRAY:  So I want to follow up on that question.

To the extent that one party was to write to the ministry and say, "I think in their environmental assessment they are using my copyright information," would the Minister refuse to kind of -- does the ministry take a position on that?  Would they refuse to review those sections of the document?  Are you focused solely upon whether or not, like, the environmental assessment that's filed, whether it meets the requirements to be granted approval?

MR. EVERS:  I can't speculate.

MR. MURRAY:  I would like to then move and talk about a new area.  And just to bring you up-to-speed, one of the issues that has come up in the OEB hearing is what would happen with respect to the NextBridge environmental assessment if Hydro One was granted leave to construct and not NextBridge.

So in a situation where NextBridge was not granted leave to construct by the Ontario Energy Board, would that have any impact on the environmental assessment process that's being undertaken by your ministry?

MR. EVERS:  Can you clarify that question?

MR. MURRAY:  Well, I guess the question I have is, if the Minister was to learn that ultimately NextBridge was not granted leave by this Board, would it stop its review of NextBridge's environmental assessment?

MR. EVERS:  No.  So you've provided the documentation -- the sheet in front of us.  So the ministry would continue with its review.  So the ministry review has been published, and so the Minister would continue -- or we would continue on with our review of the documentation.

Would the Minister make a decision on the project?  We can't necessarily speculate, but the Minister, I believe it is under section 9, doesn't have to make a decision on the application.  As well, there is a number of factors that the Minister can consider when they -- when he makes a decision on the application, and one of those could be the leave-to-construct or the status of the leave-to-construct.

MR. MURRAY:  Just for the record, you referenced a document, so perhaps we'll mark this as an exhibit.  What it is, is it's an excerpt from the Environmental Assessment Act, section 6.2 and 6.3, and we will mark this as Exhibit K7.2.
EXHIBIT NO. K7.2:  EXCERPT FROM THE ENVIRONMENTAL ASSESSMENT ACT, SECTION 6.2 AND 6.3.

MR. MURRAY:  And just to read for the record what section 6.2 -- 6. -- sorry, 6.3 says is that:

"The proponent may amend or withdraw the environmental assessment after the deadline for completion of the ministry's review only upon such conditions as the Minister may order -- may by order impose."

So am I correct that we're now in -- we are past the ministry's review at this point, correct?

MS. CROSS:  That's correct.

MR. EVERS:  That's correct.

MR. MURRAY:  So NextBridge could not unilaterally withdraw their EA at this point; is that correct?

MS. CROSS:  That's correct.

MR. MURRAY:  As far as you are aware?

MS. CROSS:  In accordance with the legislation.

MR. EVERS:  In accordance with the legislation.

MR. MURRAY:  And to the extent the issue has come up before, are there any sort of factors or policies or criteria that a Minister will consider in deciding whether or not to accept a withdrawal at this point in the process?

MR. EVERS:  Not that we're aware of.  NextBridge could submit the request and the Minister would review that request, but if he had decided to allow NextBridge to withdraw the EA it would have to be made by an order, which is section 6.3.

MR. MURRAY:  And has this situation come up before, where parties get beyond the review stage and then seek to withdraw?  Is this something that has come up before?

MS. CROSS:  Not in recent memory.

MR. MURRAY:  Now, if one party were to essentially abandon their EA, maybe not push it forward any more, but stop responding to comments from the ministry, is it possible for another party to step into the original proponent's shoes and almost take over their EA?  Is that possible?

MS. CROSS:  We couldn't speculate.

MR. MURRAY:  Another question I have is with respect to what is considered public and non-public information.  Does the nature of what's considered public information or non-public information, does it change upon either the withdrawal of an EA or the granting of an EA?  For example, if information that maybe when you filed the EA is considered non-public, does it all of a sudden, if approval is granted, become public?

MR. EVERS:  So if you're saying if there was confidential information, would that all of a sudden become public once there was an approval?

MR. MURRAY:  Yes.

MR. EVERS:  No.

MR. MURRAY:  Now, in the event that the NextBridge EA ultimately was not approved, would the ministry still -- or would the Minister still consider granting a declaratory order to Hydro One in this case?

MS. CROSS:  It would depend on the request that is submitted by Hydro One and what Hydro One indicated in that request in terms of its rationale and how it would meet environmental requirements.

MR. MURRAY:  And my understanding is that Hydro One seeks to rely upon some of the public information that NextBridge has filed as part of the EA.

Does its ability to rely upon that information change whether or not the NextBridge EA is ultimately approved?  For example, does the importance or value or weight of studies change if EA approval is granted?

MR. EVERS:  I don't know.  But if you're asking about using the information from NextBridge's EA?  We can't speculate.

MR. MURRAY:  I would like to now turn and discuss a new topic about the status of Hydro One's environmental assessment or environmental approvals that it seeks.

As I understand it, they're sort of going down two paths.  One path they're pursuing is what I call a declaration order, and the second path is the individual EA.  Do I have that right, that those are the kind of two paths they're pursuing?

MS. CROSS:  The only path that the ministry is involved in at this point is with the regular EA process.  There has not been a request for a declaration order or any exemptions submitted to the ministry.

MR. MURRAY:  And my understanding -- and you can correct me if I am wrong -- is that, has the ministry advised Hydro One that in order to properly be able to assess whether or not it would grant a declaration order, it is first incumbent that the NextBridge EA be approved?

MS. CROSS:  When Hydro One first approached the ministry, they first looked at an amending procedure to the NextBridge EA, and we indicated it was a separate undertaking and therefore that would not be permissible under the act.  And then Hydro One questioned whether they could use the NextBridge EA.  We indicated at that time that the NextBridge EA was still under review and it didn't have a standing.  So if they wanted to refer to the NextBridge EA, that it would need to be something that is complete.

Those were those early conversations that happened several months ago.  We have not had any further conversations.

MR. MURRAY:  I was hoping we could pull up attachment 1 of Exhibit I, tab 1, schedule 14, of Hydro One's evidence.  If we could go to Staff 14, attachment 1, I believe.

So this sets out the schedules, or at least the schedule that Hydro One is proposing for both kind of its two routes, the declaration order and also for its individual EA.

I would like to focus first on the declaration order and, in particular, it is the second heading, "declaration order", and the last two bullets.

So Hydro One right now is projecting to file its submission on a declaration order with your ministry on January 31st, 2019, and the timeline suggests getting approval hopefully of the declaration order August 15th, 2019.

Just to let you know, there has been one change that Hydro One has made to this schedule, in the sense that it was based on the assumption that the NextBridge EA would be completed by the end of the clear and now that looks like it's been delayed two months, so they're now planning to file their submission two months later and anticipating approval two months later.

Now, I recall us discussing this issue back in May and my understanding back in May is that typically for a declaration order, if it's a non-emergency situation, the timelines are, give or take, usually in the range of six to nine months.  Is that still accurate?

MS. CROSS:  Yes.

MR. MURRAY:  So by my math, it seems that they have, if I've counted right, six-and-a-half months they have basically put forward in terms of their timeline to get a declaration EA.

On a six-and-a-half-month timeline, they have a six- to nine-month range.  Would it be fair to say that is maybe optimistic, but not necessarily off the table?  Is that a fair assessment?

MS. CROSS:  It depends on the submission that's put in front of us, and any comments that we receive during consultation on that request.

MR. MURRAY:  But it wouldn't be something that is just not possible?  It is something that -- it may happen but may take longer?  Would that be fair?

MS. CROSS:  Yes.  Ultimately, it is the Minister and Cabinet that will make that decision.

MR. MURRAY:  I would like to now discuss the other avenue that Hydro One is pursuing, which is the individual EA.

Now, I understand Hydro One has actually taken step towards pursuing that with the ministry, is that right?

MR. EVERS:  That's correct.

MR. MURRAY:  And I think to date, what's happened is they filed their terms of reference and currently it is out for a public review comment period?

MR. EVERS:  The public comment period ended on October 7th.

MR. MURRAY:  Okay.

MR. EVERS:  2018 -- oh, but yeah, I should say it's been extended for -- a few of the Indigenous communities requested extensions.  I believe there are five that requested extensions and we have granted those extensions.

So I believe the comment period, the longest extension is October 28th, 2018.

MR. MURRAY:  And if you could scroll to page 3 of this attachment, I would like to draw to the panel's attention the -- this is the individual EA kind of schedule or timeline that is proposed by Hydro One.

There's been two changes that Hydro One has made.  The first one, based upon what I understand to be the extension of the comment period for certain Indigenous groups, is originally they were anticipating a Minister's decision on November 30th, and my understanding is that's now been pushed back to December 14th.

And also, second from bottom, draft EA submitted and available for review.  That milestone and all of the milestones that follow have been pushed back two months to acknowledge the fact the NextBridge EA is actually going to be two months delayed from the previously thought-of end-of-year approval.

So by my count, that puts about eight-and-a-half months of time between the filing of their EA and what now will be March, and when they're seeking approval.  Would the eight-and-a-half-month period for approval be completely off the table?  Or is that something that may be possible?

MR. EVERS:  I think that is an ambitious schedule.  I think it does take into account the regulated timelines.

However, we don't know what comments are going to be received, specifically through the EA process and what the issues resolution process is going to look like, which may impact those -- the timeline that Hydro One has proposed.

The other -- one other factor is that it is the Minister's decision with Cabinet concurrence.  So ultimately, we can't speculate when that decision is going to happen and when Cabinet concurrence is going to occur.  So that could play a role in the schedule as well.

MR. MURRAY:  I think we have seen from the delay of the terms of reference that there are sometimes issues that often people ask for extensions and they're granted by the ministry, so I think that is fair.

MR. EVERS:  Yes.

MR. MURRAY:  One final question I had.  Whether it be an individual environmental assessment or a declaration order, am I correct that the ministry would only grant either of these authorizations if it is satisfied that the duty to consult with Indigenous communities has been satisfied?

You wouldn't -- if you thought there was outstanding issues to do with consultation, you wouldn't be granting either of those remedies?

MR. EVERS:  Yes, that's correct.

MR. MURRAY:  I want to talk about one more issue about Hydro One's individual EA.  My understanding is, as part of their individual EA, they're proposing two alternative routes, one to go this you Pukaskwa National Park and one to go around.  Is that correct?

MR. EVERS:  That's correct.

MR. MURRAY:  And so if they're ultimately granted approval for the individual EA, are they given approval for both of those alternate routes or just one?

MR. EVERS:  No.  So Hydro One has identified the options of going through the park and around the park as alternative methods.

So as part of the environmental assessment, they will do an evaluation or assessment of those two route options, and ultimately they will select their preferred alternative, and the Minister will only approve the preferred alternative.

MR. MURRAY:  So what happens if later on -- let's assume for a minute they approve the -- they go forward with the through-the-park route, and then at some point in the future, Parks Canada says you can't go through the park.

What would happen with the EA?  Would they have to come back for an amendment or entirely new EA to the ministry?

MR. EVERS:  It really depends on what's documented in the environmental assessment.  I can't speculate.

But the ministry would expect some certainty through the EA process that the consultation with Parks Canada has occurred and documented as part of the environmental assessment.

So hoping that, in terms of the assessment of the alternative methods, that is taken into consideration when selecting their preferred alternative.

MR. MURRAY:  To the extent that ultimately the route they pursue is through the park, and then an issue comes up and they can't go through the park, could they then seek to rely upon NextBridge's EA for their around-the-park route if it is the exact same route as NextBridge?

MR. EVERS:  I can't speculate at this time.  But they would have evaluated the alternative route as part of their own environmental assessment.

MR. MURRAY:  So to the extent -- once again, it switches.  Do you have any sense in terms of the timing of how long it would take to resolve the issues that might come out if the route changed?

MR. EVERS:  No.

MR. MURRAY:  And the last area I want to talk about is about a related EA for the Marathon's transmission station that's been brought up by Hydro One.  I was hoping we could pull up a document dated June 27th, 2018, that is in evidence.

If you look -- this is a letter that is written, I believe, by Ms. Cross of Hydro One to -- Ms. Croll of Hydro One to the ministry, and I would like to focus -- at the beginning, she basically excerpts an earlier e-mail from the ministry, and I would like to focus on the third paragraph.
"Because these two projects are connected, we cannot move forward with class EA permits and approvals before the IEA decision is completed.  We ask that Hydro One Inc. please refrain from submitting any permit and/or approval applications to MNRF or MOECC for the interim."

And what I understand is that there is two EAs.  There is one EA being brought by Hydro One for the station, the Marathon station and the necessary upgrades that have to be done there.  And there is another -- obviously there is NextBridge's EA to build the line.

And what I understand this letter to essentially say is that we're not going to let you move forward with a substation EA until the NextBridge EA has been approved.  Do I have that right?

MR. EVERS:  That's correct.

MR. MURRAY:  Does that remain the ministry's current position today?

MR. EVERS:  It does.

MR. MURRAY:  Now, is this restriction based upon a statute or policy?

MR. EVERS:  Yes.

MR. MURRAY:  Can you expand?

MR. EVERS:  section 12.2 of the Environmental Assessment Act.  I believe section 12.2(iii) indicates that no permits or authorizations can be released before approval of the Environmental Assessment Act.  That is sort of a dirty explanation of it, but that is the gist.

MR. MURRAY:  But would that apply if it is a different EA?

MR. EVERS:  So Hydro One for the Marathon transformer station released a notice of completion in March 2018.  In that notice of completion it noted that the East-West
Tie -- that the upgrades were for solely the accommodation of the East-West Tie.

So the ministry's position, interpretation of that, is that one project can't happen without the other.  So there needs to be some regulatory certainty from the individual EA process in order to release permits and approvals for the transformer station that is essentially part of the project.

MR. MURRAY:  And so if I understood that correctly, essentially that if one permit is being granted, only to coincide with the second permit, that the first permit won't be granted without the second permit; is that --


MR. EVERS:  The second permit wouldn't be granted without the first permit.

MR. MURRAY:  And so that was -- that was not a good explanation.  So to the extent that the Marathon work needed to be done for some other reason or part of the reason why it needed to be done was not just for the East-West Tie line, would it be fair to say that that work could have commenced by this point?  Is that fair?

MR. EVERS:  If they had noted that the purpose of the expansion of the Marathon transformer station was for another purpose outside of the accommodation of the East-West Tie, yes.

MR. MURRAY:  And has Hydro One been made aware of that fact?

MR. EVERS:  Yes.

MS. CROSS:  Yes, they have.

MR. MURRAY:  How did it respond?

MS. CROSS:  We have the response from the letter that is in front of us, and we had a meeting with Hydro One and NextBridge in July to talk about the project and try to understand how the transformer station upgrades and their construction schedule related to the NextBridge East-West Tie construction schedule.  We asked for some further information from Hydro One to that effect.  And everything that we have seen to date ties these two projects.

So the ministry's position continues to be that 12.2 applies and no permits should be issued that are related to the NextBridge EA until a decision is made by the Minister on the NextBridge EA.

MR. MURRAY:  I have one final question on this area, and it is a hypothetical, but I am hoping we can have some clarity here.

So let's assume for a second that Hydro One was granted leave-to-construct by the OEB.  If the NextBridge EA is still then ultimately approved, at that point could the Marathon substation work begin?

MR. EVERS:  No.  It is the ministry's position that the Hydro One would have to fulfil their EA requirements for the Lake Superior Link before the Marathon transformer station permits could be issued.

MR. MURRAY:  And I am going to go back to our earlier discussion.  There is just one more question I have.  I am going back once again to the 13-week period at the beginning when the Minister -- the package is kind of prepared for the Minister and it goes to the Minister for review and ultimately decision.

How often in that period are kind of questions or extra information sought from proponents?  Is that something that happens frequently?  Or is it just if something unusual comes up or a new issue that was unforeseen?  Is it frequent that during that 13-week period you go back to the proponent and ask for more information or clarification?

MR. EVERS:  It depends on the complexity of the project, but it does happen often.

MR. MURRAY:  Okay.  Thank you very much.  Those are all of Staff's questions.

MS. LONG:  Thank you.

The order next is Mr. Cass on behalf of NextBridge.

MR. CASS:  Thank you, Madam Chair.  In light of the questions asked by Mr. Murray and the answers, I have no questions on behalf of NextBridge.  Thank you.

MS. LONG:  Mr. -- I guess it is going to be Ms. Cooper; is that correct?

MS. COOPER:  Yes.

MS. LONG:  On behalf of Hydro One.
Cross-Examination by Ms. Cooper:

MS. COOPER:  Yes, thank you so much.  I just have a few questions.  Thank you.

You referred to a compliance monitoring plan that would be a condition and typically is a condition of an EA.  Can you just explain what that means?

MR. EVERS:  Yes.  So the Compliance Monitoring Plan is put together and provided by the proponent, but it includes essentially the commitments that were made during the environmental assessment process or documented in the environmental assessment process.  Those commitments are carried over into the compliance monitoring plan, and it also includes the conditions of approval that are in the notice of approval.

MS. COOPER:  And typically would that be provided by the proponent after the approval is issued, EA approval is issued?

MR. EVERS:  That is correct.  It is usually, they need to provide it within a certain timeline prior to construction.

MS. COOPER:  Okay, thank you.

And then you also talked about, that you would be looking as a condition for further consultation plan with indigenous communities.

MR. EVERS:  That's correct.

MS. COOPER:  Is that a standard provision that you would see or is that specific to this project?

MR. EVERS:  It is becoming more common, yes.

MS. COOPER:  Okay.  All right.  And then you also talked about a detailed project plan being required.

MR. EVERS:  Yes.

MS. COOPER:  And you explained a little bit about that.  Is that plan just simply required for submission?  Or does it actually undergo ministry review and approval?

MR. EVERS:  It will -- the Ministry of the Environment, Conservation, and Parks will review that document, as well as the Ministry of Natural Resources and Forestry.

MS. COOPER:  So it is a condition of the EA approval that would be submitted for ministry review and approval?

MR. EVERS:  For ministry review.  If there are concerns with the documentation, those conversations would occur.  It wouldn't -- I wouldn't really identify approval, but certainly satisfactory -- satisfied that the documentation is clear in there.

MS. CROSS:  Maybe just to add that we don't know exactly what that will look like because it will be a Minister's decision as to exactly what the condition will be, so we're just speaking to what we have flagged in the ministry review as a possible condition that would be recommended to the Minister by staff.

MS. COOPER:  Thank you.

The other question was, I believe Mr. Murray asked you a question about, would there be any conditions that speak to restrictions on time frames for activity.  And I think he used the example of clearing, if I recollect.  And I think your answer was that you didn't know.

MR. EVERS:  Not off the top of my head.

MS. COOPER:  Okay.  But is that because it could be in the --


MR. EVERS:  It could be in the documentation.

MS. COOPER:  -- review?  But you don't recall?

MR. EVERS:  That's correct, yes.

MS. COOPER:  Okay.  Thank you.  And so would you find that if someone was looking for that information to see if there was restrictions on time frames for clearing or other activities, you would look to the EA that's been published?

MR. EVERS:  That's correct.

MS. COOPER:  Okay.  Thank you.

MS. CROSS:  But we would also consider that the permitting agency would be the ones that would be finalizing those types of restrictions to ensure that their mandate is being met.  So if there are permits required from the Ministry of Natural Resources and Forestry, those would need to be sought by the proponent.

MS. COOPER:  Okay, thank you.  That leads into my next question, which is, Mr. Murray also asked about the various permits that are required in connection with this undertaking, which I understand are with different ministries, both federal and provincial, so they're not all with your particular ministry.

But if we took some of the permits that your particular ministry, MECP, administers, like ECAs, environmental compliance approvals, or other types of approvals, is it feasible to complete those types of approvals from start to finish within a month?

I think Mr. Murray asked that question, but I think he was generally talking about all approvals, which I appreciate you wouldn't know about other Ministries, but can you speak to your ministry?

MS. CROSS:  We have a one-year service standard related to ECA applications, but that depends on when it was submitted, and some will be done faster and some, you know, may take a little longer.

MR. EVERS:  And how complete the application is with all of the necessary information that is there to conduct a review.

MS. COOPER:  Okay.  So with this one-year service period for permits to be issued by MECP, I take it no permits have yet been applied for in connection with this project to MECP, given your position that you don't deal with those issues until the EA is approved?

MS. CROSS:  So there may be an application made.  A permit cannot be issued.  At this time I am not aware of any applications being made, but that doesn't mean that there haven't been.  It would be done through a different part of the branch.  We wouldn't be involved.

MS. COOPER:  Okay.  And just to clarify on that point.  So an application can be submitted, but the permit cannot be issued or the approval cannot be issued pending EA approval.

Turning back to where Mr. Murray went on the station's approvals, does that mean for those approvals that there could be applications submitted but you would hold on to them until the EA is issued?

MS. CROSS:  That's correct.

MR. EVERS:  Yes.

MS. COOPER:  Okay.  Now, that's, I think, a bit different than the letter that we viewed that was brought up.

MS. CROSS:  Yes.  The recommendation that our regional offices provide to proponents is to wait until the EA process is completed, because the EA process may lead to different conditions, it may lead to changes to the preferred undertaking as they're working through that process.  So the recommendation is to wait to finalize the EA before submitting for permits. But there's no prohibition, in terms of putting forward an application.

Some agencies may ask the proponent to wait, you know, just in the way that they prioritize their work.

MS. COOPER:  And in terms of the MECP, we talked about ECAs which are administered by MECP.  But if we took another permit -- like a permit to take water, which I think is one of the permits required under this particular project -- is the service standard you mentioned, that one-year service standard, does that apply to all permits across the Board, or is it different depending on the particular approval?

MS. CROSS:  That is specific to environmental compliance approval.  I don't know what the standard is for permits to take water.

MS. COOPER:  Okay.  Does your colleague know?

MR. EVERS:  I don't, sorry.

MS. COOPER:  Okay, thank you.  I just wanted to turn now to the area about public information versus non-public information.  And again, Mr. Murray did a thorough job of addressing some of these questions, so I can just use some of what he referred to, but I just want to be sure that we're clear about this.

So it is correct that there is information obviously that's published on a website and that is publicly available, correct?


MR. EVERS:  That's correct.

MS. COOPER:  I think you were saying there is information that would not be published on the website, but would be in a physical file.

MR. EVERS:  That's correct.

MS. COOPER:  And that would be available to the public to access at the ministry's offices?

MS. CROSS:  Yes.

MR. EVERS:  That's correct, yes.

MS. COOPER:  When you talk about confidential information, and you gave some examples, which was helpful.  You talked about legal advice, or I think where perhaps a third party had requested that it be kept confidential.


Can you give us some further examples to understand what could you not access if you were to go to the EA file for this particular undertaking?  What would be unavailable to a third party?

MR. EVERS:  Sure.  So in some cases, an interested person, if they submitted their comments, will identify with their submission that they do not want to be identified, their information or even their comments.

In some cases, if we do receive traditional knowledge documentation, that would be included in the confidential file.

I am trying to think of other examples.  That is all I can think of off the top of my head.

MS. COOPER:  That is very helpful.  Can I ask you -- if we talk specifically about the field studies that underlie some of the conclusions and sections that one normally sees in an EA document, so I am thinking more the actual field studies and the data.

MR. EVERS:  Yes.

MS. COOPER:  Other than traditional knowledge that you mentioned, would there be any field studies that would be off limits to a third party, they would be unable to access field studies, like species studies, archaeology studies?

MR. EVERS:  In some cases, species studies will be confidential.  The expectation is really the proponent to identify that to us, so that we're aware of what files need to be put -- that they have submitted to us and what files need to be put into the confidential folder.

MS. COOPER:  If a proponent identifies something as confidential, does it become confidential simply because they identified it as such, or does there have to be some rationale provided for it?

MR. EVERS:  I think it just needs to be identified as such.  That's our general practice.

MS. CROSS:  We operate under FIPPA, right.  So we would take that into context.

MS. COOPER:  And then I am going to really pry into your memory skills here and ask you, with respect to this particular undertaking, are you aware of any field studies, underlying data or field studies that are marked confidential?

MR. EVERS:  Not that I am aware of.

MS. COOPER:  Okay.  I am just going to look -- okay.  I wanted to ask you about -- and you may not know anything about this issue and if you don't, that's fair enough.  But during the course of this hearing, and I appreciate you weren't here, there were some questions and issues that came up about the concerns about crossing of transmission lines in the context of this undertaking.

I guess I just wondered if that was in the purview of your review.  Are you aware of those issues and do you look at those issues from a context of your review?

MR. EVERS:  Crossing of transmission lines?

MS. COOPER:  Yes.

MR. EVERS:  I don't recall it coming up during the review process.

MS. COOPER:  Is that something that you think should come up during your review process?  Is that something that should be raised with you in connection with an undertaking?

MS. CROSS:  Is that a technical issue, in terms of the ability to cross transmission lines?

MS. COOPER:  Yes, whether there is compliance, whether it is permissible or any of those issues, or is that outside the purview of the MECP?

MR. EVERS:  I think if it was submitted to us as a comment from the owner of the transmission line, we would pass it along to the proponent to consider.

MS. COOPER:  Just to clarify -- and I think we've gotten clarification on this, but I just want to be clear.

In terms of the submission of permits or approvals in connection with the stations' EA that you have been looking at, your position at this time is you shouldn't be submitting any permits or approvals.  Is that a fair summary of where we are on that?

MS. CROSS:  Our position is that they should not be issued.

MS. COOPER:  Okay.  And you have acknowledged, I think in fairness, that that's slightly different than what the letter says.

MS. CROSS:  Yes.  And I clarified that at the July meeting with both Hydro One and NextBridge.

MS. COOPER:  And you were in attendance at that July meeting, is that correct?

MS. CROSS:  Yes, yes.

MS. COOPER:  I think in connection with that meeting, you were provided with a presentation, a slide deck that would have been used for that.  Do you recall that?

MS. CROSS:  Yes.

MS. COOPER:  Do you recall what the slide deck consisted of?

MS. CROSS:  I don't have it with me, but to the best of my recollection, there were some maps, there was a construction schedule that was associated with the transformer stations.

MS. COOPER:  I wanted to ask you a question about that schedule.  Would it help to turn it up in front of you?  Would that be helpful for you?

MS. CROSS:  Sure.

MS. COOPER:  Okay.  I think it is NextBridge 51 and it is page 3, attachment 1.  I have all of these helpers, you see.

MR. WARREN:  I didn't realize I have been raised to such an august standard.  I'm flattered.

MS. COOPER:  I wasn't talking about you, Mr. Warren.

MR. WARREN:  I've slunk again.

MS. COOPER:  I think it is Staff 51.  There is a presentation in there of -- that was made to the MECP at a meeting that was held in July.  I think it is part of a slide deck, and I believe it is page 3.

I believe it came up in the NextBridge responses.  That's it, thank you.

MR. WARREN:  For the record, it is response to Staff 51, attachment 3, page 19 of 69.

MS. COOPER:  Thank you.

MS. LONG:  Just give us a minute?

MS. COOPER:  Thank you very much for bringing that up.  I will give you a minute to look at it, but I was just going to ask you if this looks like the schedule that you may recall.

MS. CROSS:  I believe so, I believe so.

MS. COOPER:  And was the first -- if you look at the first line, with "Deliverable class EA notice of completion filed with MECP", you will see there it said July 2018 delayed.  Was that what was discussed with you in terms of the meeting, that that was delayed?

MS. CROSS:  Yes.

MS. COOPER:  And then when you look through the other timelines, was your understanding that this was the schedule, the new schedule?  Or was this your understanding that this was the old schedule that needs to be revisited because of the delay?

MS. CROSS:  I don't recall.  I do recall asking questions about the concrete footings, the amount of time between October and August and why would it take that long for concrete footings to be established, and is that typical.

I asked questions around timing to order materials, if Hydro One would need to wait until the leave to construct was granted for this particular station.

So I did ask questions around some of these timelines.

MS. COOPER:  Okay, thank you.  Then my other question is when you left that meeting, was it your understanding that the purpose of the meeting was to inform the ministry of a delay in terms of the schedule?

MS. CROSS:  No.  The purpose of the meeting was to understand the schedule for the transformer stations, the three transformer stations that Hydro One has responsibility for in terms of upgrades that would support the East-West Tie, and how they related to the NextBridge EA.

The meeting came from contact that we had from a consultant working for NextBridge, if I am recalling correctly, trying to understand the 12.2 prohibition that said permits could not be issued until there was an EA decision.

So we decided to all get together and figure out how all of the pieces fit.  Okay?

MS. COOPER:  So just for clarity for the 12 -- the reference to the EA Act, so the meeting came about because of the issue that arose about the ministry's position about not issuing permits pending an EA approval coming from the Minister?

MS. CROSS:  That's correct.

MS. COOPER:  That's correct?  Okay.  Thank you very much.  I -- if I could just have one moment's indulgence.

MS. LONG:  Sure.

MS. COOPER:  Thank you for that indulgence.

I have one other question.  Just looking at the transformer project schedule, I know that it doesn't detail permit requirements.  Are you aware of some of the permits that would need to be submitted in connection with these stations' work?

MS. CROSS:  I don't recall.

MS. COOPER:  Okay.

MS. CROSS:  It may have been part of the presentation, but I don't recall.

MS. COOPER:  Okay.  Would it surprise you to know that an ECA was required for drainage works?  That is typical in a station construction?

MS. CROSS:  It would not surprise me, no.

MS. COOPER:  Okay.  So -- and I think you said your service standard turnaround time for ECAs is a year, if I recall?

MS. CROSS:  Yes.

MS. COOPER:  Okay.  Which is better, I will mention, by the way, than what it used to be.

So a year, that would be 12 months.  So from the point at which you would take applications or applications would be submitted for permits, roughly you're looking at a year's time frame for processing of ECA applications generally --


MS. CROSS:  Generally.  Some might be shorter, some might be longer.  It depends.

MS. COOPER:  Okay.  All right.  I think those are all of my questions.  Thank you very much.

MS. LONG:  Thank you.

Are there any intervenors that propose to ask any questions of these witnesses?  Can I just canvass you who wants to do first, and then I will start over here.

Mr. Garner, you have no questions?

MR. GARNER:  No.

MS. LONG:  So Mr. Rubenstein, you do have questions, Mr. Buonaguro has questions, and Mr. Esquega has questions.  Okay.  Let's start with you, Mr. Rubenstein.
Cross-Examination by Mr. Rubenstein:

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Thank you very much, panel.  Just two questions.  And I think you may have addressed this indirectly with some of your answers to Mr. Murray's question.

Just for your edification, if Volume 5 of the transcript could be brought up, page 16.

So I had a conversation with Ms. Tidmarsh from NextBridge about the ability to -- the expectation of the Environmental Assessment for their project by February.  And she had -- he says -- and you see this in her discussion -- in her response beginning at line 2 -- that she had a television (sic) conversation with yourself and that it was your view that the February 12th was sort of an appropriate expectation of when an environmental assessment would be issued.  Is that --


MS. CROSS:  We talked about it being reasonable within the regulated timelines, but that a decision is made by the Minister, and a decision that is made by the Minister continues to be valid if made beyond that date, and obviously Cabinet concurrence would be required.  So, you know, we're targeting February.  It doesn't mean that it will happen in February.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Okay, thank you, that is a helpful clarification.

Then my second question is with respect to the environmental assessment on the Marathon transformer station, as there was discussion earlier on with respect to the position of the ministry that no permits or approvals will be issued until there is an approval of the NextBridge environmental assessment, and then I understood from your questions with Mr. Murray ultimately Hydro One gets leave to construct, until there is some decision on an environmental assessment, either a declaration order or an environmental assessment on their project.  Do I have that correct?

MR. EVERS:  That's correct.  So in order for -- if Hydro One were to get the leave to construct, they would have to complete their environmental assessment requirements before permits and approvals could be issued for the Marathon transformer station.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So let's just assume, for example, that NextBridge is granted approval in February 2019.  They get their environmental assessment.  I just want to understand where we are in the process of the -- at that point with respect to the environmental assessment for the Marathon transformer station.

My understanding is that is a class environmental assessment as opposed to the NextBridge being -- the East-West Tie line being an individual environmental assessment, correct?

MR. EVERS:  Yes.  So the requirements, as I understand it from their notice of completion, they needed to fulfil requirements under the minor transmissions facilities class EA, and the MNR's resource stewardship and facilities development class EA for -- because their upgrades required the construction on Crown land.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So once the environmental assessment is issued and approved with respect to the NextBridge East-West tie, is there any further work with respect to the environmental assessment that would be required for approval with respect to the Marathon transformer station?

MR. EVERS:  With respect to the environmental assessment?

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Yes.

MR. EVERS:  Once the notice of approval is issued, the Minister has made a decision to approve the project under the Environmental Assessment Act.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  No.  But with respect to the Marathon transformer station.  I am just trying to understand if there is anything left that would then need to be done with respect to that environmental assessment.

MS. CROSS:  So there is an opportunity for members of the public or Indigenous communities to submit a part 2 order request; that is, a request to our Minister asking for the project to have a higher level of assessment.

That process happened.  This were no part 2 order requests received, so that class EA is complete.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So as soon as the approval is given, say, for the NextBridge East-West Tie, Hydro One is in a position, they've got their class EA approval for their Marathon transformer station?

MS. CROSS:  Yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Okay, thank you very much.  Those are my questions.

MS. LONG:  I am just going down the row here.  Mr. Buonaguro.
Cross-Examination by Mr. Buonaguro:

MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.  Similar area of questioning.  My understanding, when you were speaking with Mr. Murray about the relationship between the Marathon station approval and the East-West Tie or LSL approval -- whichever one you want to link it to -- my understanding is that part of the reason that you don't want to give approval or you can't give approval to the Marathon TS station now is for regulatory certainty; i.e., you want to make sure that it is being done in accordance with a line, because otherwise, if no line is approved, then there is no need for an EA approval of that station, correct?

MR. EVERS:  That's correct.

MR. BUONAGURO:  So that made me think, though, about why that would be the case for either the East-West Tie line or the LSL line, since neither of them can be built without a leave to construct.  So why is it that you would delay the Marathon approval for regulatory certainty because you want to see which line is going to come in, if any.

But at the same time -- either one of these proponents can get EA approval even though neither of them have leave-to-construct approval.

MS. CROSS:  So there is a prohibition in our act about other approvals being issued before the Minister makes a decision.  Leave to construct, my understanding -- and OEB, please correct me if I am wrong -- would be granted conditional on EA approval happening.

So we have an actual restriction in terms of issuing of permits.  So that is what we're speaking to, in terms of that.  Certainty of presupposing our Minister's decision on the individual EA to have a project that has been linked with that, move forward in the absence of the Minister making a decision on the transmission line.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.  So does that mean that practically speaking from a review and approval point of view, from your point of view there is no such thing as a leave-to-construct application?  It doesn't matter.  From your perspective it doesn't matter if they have even applied for leave to construct; they can go through the EA approval process and get EA approval and never get a leave to construct?

MS. CROSS:  Well, we recognize that there are approvals that will be required in order to implement the project, but we're not relying on those approvals to all be in place before the Minister makes a decision.

MR. EVERS:  And I think we mentioned earlier to the questions if there was a leave to construct, a decision, that could -- that would be included in a decision package to the Minister.

MR. BUONAGURO:  So that's interesting.  Does that mean that leave to construct might influence the Minister's decision?

MS. CROSS:  It would be a factor put in front of the Minister.  In terms of would it influence, I can't speak for the Minister.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.  And then just briefly, I think you will have recognized that in this leave-to-construct process it has been recognized that there are essentially competing proponents, and the two leave-to-constructs are being reviewed and determined in conjunction with one another, and presumably one or the other and not both will get leave to construct.

How is it that in the EA approval process, it seems that the approval process is done without regard to the fact that there's competing proponents proposing essentially the same project?

MS. CROSS:  So this project isn't unique, in that we can sometimes see competing proponents.  It is not even unique for transmission.  We're dealing with a similar situation -- I don't know how many of you might be aware of Watay and Sagatay both proposing to build a line to Pickle Lake -- so we have to look at each application in its merit.  That will be what comes forward and ultimately the Board will decide which one leave to construct would be given to, but that is outside of our Minister's scope.

MR. BUONAGURO:  So from the ministry's and Minister's point of view, you considered the East-West Tie application as though there is no Lake Superior Link application, and vice versa?

MS. CROSS:  We consider each application on its merits and how it has met the requirements of the terms of reference, the Environmental Assessment Act, as well as any comments that have been received and how they have been addressed.

MR. BUONAGURO:  So in terms of the impact of one application may have on the other, I guess from what you've just said, it sounds like the only way they might impact on another is if somebody makes comments to that effect, possibly?  If somebody comments why are you going to approve project A when project B is superior for these reasons, for example?

MR. EVERS:  If they brought up specific technical concerns in relation to the project, the expectation that the proponent would respond to a specific technical concern that is in relation to the project.  But --


MR. BUONAGURO:  Not generally?

MR. EVERS:  I can't -- yeah.

MR. BUONAGURO:  All right.  Thank you.  Those are my questions.

MS. LONG:  Mr. Esquega?
Cross-Examination by Mr. Esquega:


MR. ESQUEGA:  Thank you.  My name is Etienne Esquega.  I represent Biinijitiwabik Zaaging Anishnaabek.  Are you familiar with the First Nation?

MR. EVERS:  Yes.

MS. CROSS:  They participated in this process, yes.

MR. ESQUEGA:  It's my understanding that the MECP determined which communities need to be consulted during the environmental assessment process.  Is that fair to say?

MR. EVERS:  Ministry of Environment, Conservation and Parks worked with the Ministry of Energy for the determination of the communities.

MR. ESQUEGA:  And there was a list of 18 communities that were identified, right?

MR. EVERS:  Yes.  That was issued by the Ministry of Energy, yes.

MR. ESQUEGA:  We know BZA was one of those communities?

MR. EVERS:  That's correct.

MR. ESQUEGA:  And that is the list you worked with for this consultation process?

MR. EVERS:  That's correct.

MR. ESQUEGA:  Once the MECP identifies or accepts what communities have been identified as being required to be consulted, it is fair to say that the MECP will expect that each of those communities will be consulted equally?  Is that fair to say?

MR. EVERS:  The dissemination of information, the expectation is that the proponent would reach out to each one of those Indigenous communities and work with them to determine what their expectations are on consultation.

MR. ESQUEGA:  But the MECP has not determined to what extent -- what Indigenous communities may be affected by this project.  Is that fair to say?

MR. EVERS:  That's determined through the documentation that's provided to us from the proponent, and once the ministry has done their review of the environmental assessment, a review of those -- of the consultation process, the consultation that's done with the interested communities will be undertaken.

MR. ESQUEGA:  And it is my understanding that you have not told the proponent or proponents -- there's two of them in this proceeding -- that, for example, Biinijitiwabik Zaaging Anishnaabek was not more adversely affected by another community, for example?

MR. EVERS:  I am not aware of that.

MR. ESQUEGA:  In fact, it is my understanding that you have never defined the extent to which BZA has been affected, or will be affected by this project?

MR. EVERS:  I don't know.

MR. ESQUEGA:  Are you aware of any documentation within your ministry which defines the extent to which BZA will be affected by this project?

MR. EVERS:  The EA documentation would likely identify that, maybe.  But that analysis will happen as we get -- go through the ministry review process, get comments from the interested communities.  And then we will -- an analysis is done to determine if the duty to consult is met.

MR. ESQUEGA:  So you will determine whether or not the duty to consult will be met, and you will make comment on that?

MS. CROSS:  So the ministry looks at the record and looks at whatever comments that we've received from each individual community to determine are there outstanding issues, how can we deal with those outstanding issues, are they commitments from the proponent, are they conditions, is there further work to be done.

And in that way, we look at, you know, have we met our obligations in terms of duty to consult.  Have we provided opportunity?  Have the communities participated in the process?

We delegate procedural aspects of consultation to the proponent.  But ultimately, it is the Crown that is responsible.

So we would look at all of the documentation and see if we have -- can be satisfied as to what's been conducted and what may need to be done in the future, again through commitments or conditions.

MR. ESQUEGA:  And in terms of the ongoing consultation -- and I guess the goal there is to continue to share information with Indigenous communities, right?

MS. CROSS:  Yes.

MR. ESQUEGA:  And where possible, is it fair to say that MECP likes to see that consent or approvals obtained by the First Nations as to the plan?

MS. CROSS:  We're looking at have issues been discussed and resolved.  What are those outstanding issues would be what we'd be looking at.

MR. ESQUEGA:  I guess another word for consent could be resolved, and if everyone could come to the table and say they're happy with the plan, then that is something the Minister would be happy to see?

MS. CROSS:  The Minister would take it into account.

MR. ESQUEGA:  It would be one of the factors they would consider -- the Minister would consider in making his decision?

MR. EVERS:  The Indigenous consultation that occurred and the issues resolution process?  Yes, it would be taken into account.

MR. ESQUEGA:  In terms of the project construction plan, I think you mentioned that might be one of the ongoing conditions that will be --


MR. EVERS:  The detailed project plans?  Yes.

MR. ESQUEGA:  Yes.  And what would that include?  Would that include like timelines as to when certain construction activities are going to occur?

MR. EVERS:  It may.  I can't speculate on the specific details of what will be contained in those documents, as they will occur after environmental assessment approval, and we are just -- we are considering the condition right now for recommendation.

MR. ESQUEGA:  So for example, that plan would consider details of when a proponent seeks to do water crossings? Would that be one of the things you look for?

MR. EVERS:  Yes, yes.

MR. ESQUEGA:  And when work can take place where migratory birds are nesting?  That is another type of -- issue you look for?

MR. EVERS:  If the relevant ministry reviews those detailed project plans, if this if that is information they would like to see in it, it could, unless -- there may be commitment already in the EA that details that.

MR. ESQUEGA:  Where does the Aboriginal Consultation Advisory Board come into play in this?

MR. EVERS:  So it is also becoming -- it's being considered as a condition of approval.  It is documented in the ministry review.

MR. ESQUEGA:  Would it be preferable if each of the Indigenous communities who have been identified had a role on that board?

MR. EVERS:  We can -- we don't know the extent of the condition at this point, but it will be evaluated as we seek comments on the ministry review.

MR. ESQUEGA:  So in this five-week period that's happening right now, this would be an opportunity for my client, for example, to make it known to the Minister that they want a role on that board?

MR. EVERS:  Yes.

MR. ESQUEGA:  And that would be considered during this process?

MR. EVERS:  That's right.

MR. ESQUEGA:  And this would also be an opportunity for any First Nation to raise any concerns about any other issues with the draft EA for the Minister to consider?

MR. EVERS:  So the final EA was submitted -- well, there was an amended environmental assessment.

MR. ESQUEGA:  That's right.

MR. EVERS:  So the First Nation can submit comments on the amended environmental assessment or the Minister review.

MR. ESQUEGA:  And then if the First Nation doesn't approve of the decision of the Minister, I see your chart just ends.  I assume that the recourse at that point would be a judicial review of a minister's decision?

MR. EVERS:  Well, there would be an issues resolution process, likely, if there were some concerns brought up through that five-week period.  So the issues resolution process would occur.

MR. ESQUEGA:  At some point, though, the Minister is going to make a decision and it's going to be final; right?

MR. EVERS:  Yes.

MR. ESQUEGA:  And at that point, we don't come to a tribunal like this.

MR. EVERS:  Judicial review.

MR. ESQUEGA:  Yes.  Thank you, I have no further questions.

MS. LONG:  Thank you, Mr. Esquega.  Is there anyone else, anyone on the phone wanting to ask questions?

Hello?  Is there anyone on the line?

Okay.  I am assuming that there are no other questions except for some Panel questions.
Questions by the Board:

MS. DUFF:  I just have two.  Looking at your timeline, we talked about the 13-week period, and I wanted to know whether the Minister's decision and the Cabinet concurrence were both in that 13 weeks.

MS. CROSS:  It's only the Minister's decision.  And a minister's decision made after that date is not invalid solely based on it being made after the 13-week period.  Cabinet will follow.  There are no timelines associated with the Cabinet concurrence.

MS. DUFF:  That was my question.  Are there any timelines?

MS. CROSS:  No.

MS. DUFF:  You were having a discussion with Mr. Murray, and it was just one phrase that I wanted to have you expand upon.  There was the scenario where NextBridge's leave to construct is not approved but the EA goes forward and then the ability of Hydro One to use that information.  And what you had said was that you care about the merits of the information being used to support any individual EA.

Could you just expand upon what you mean by "the merits"?

MR. EVERS:  Yes.  So we can't comment on if Hydro One is able to use NextBridge's EA, but we can comment that the review of Hydro One's environmental assessment will be based on their terms of reference, if it's approved.

So commitments made in terms of reference and if Hydro One has met those commitments through the EA process.

We also look at the requirements under the Environmental Assessment Act, components looking at alternative methods, is the assessment method, identification of potential effects, mitigation.  Those are all elements that we take into account during our review.

So the merits of that and how they completed their assessment, as well any comments that are received through the environmental assessment process from agencies, indigenous communities, from stakeholders and their responses, are considered through our review as well.  So that is really what we're talking about as merits.

MS. DUFF:  And is it relevant to you whether it is first-person information or third-party?  I mean, people hire consultants to help them do their EAs.  Is that part of any of the consideration that you would -- is that part of the merits of the --


MR. EVERS:  So from our perspective, from my team's review, we will review it based on the Environmental Assessment Act and the requirements in it.  We also distribute the environmental assessment to technical reviewers, so the technical reviewers will make that determination of the information, whether it is through modelling first-party information, desktop information, if that is sufficient for their needs.

MS. DUFF:  I think I understand.  Those are my questions.

MS. LONG:  Okay.  I wanted to follow up on a discussion that you had with Mr. Buonaguro where he asked you if you considered each application on its own merits as opposed to comparing two applications.  And I think I understood your evidence to be that you consider them individually and there is no comparison.

One of the things that we have heard in our hearing here is a lot about one project having a better environmental footprint.  And I am just trying to understand.  It seems to me that is something that you don't consider as between two projects.  So you are not making a determination, if you look at two applicants, which one has less of an environmental footprint; you are evaluating them on their own merits, and you go through the process that you do for each one to be satisfied that issues have been dealt with.  Is that a fair characterization?

MR. EVERS:  Yes, I think so, yes.  So we look to see that they've identified all potential environmental affects and what the mitigation would be --


MS. LONG:  Right.

MR. EVERS:  -- for those potential environmental effects, identifying net effects and proposed monitoring.  But, yeah, that is done on an individual basis.

MS. LONG:  Okay.

MS. CROSS:  But the alternatives that are proposed, I think for both of these projects they looked at -- in their terms of reference, NextBridge's approved terms of reference and Hydro One, their submitted terms of reference did look at studying alternatives in the project.  And NextBridge ended up with its route, and Hydro One will obviously, moving forward with its EA, should it be approved, investigate the different alternatives and what the environmental impacts are of each and appropriate mitigation to determine the preferred.

MS. LONG:  And my final question to you is, ultimately when you grant an environmental assessment, is it granted to the project or is it granted to the proponent?

MR. EVERS:  It is granted to the project, because we do have instances where there are companies that sell off, sell their project, and the environmental assessment goes with them.

MS. CROSS:  So we speak to the undertaking that is set out in a document, that is the EA.

MR. EVERS:  Yes.

MS. LONG:  Okay, thank you.  Those are all of our questions.  Mr. Adamson, I don't know if you want to do any redirect?
Re-Examination by Mr. Adamson:

MR. ADAMSON:  I don't know that there is much I can usefully add, but I did have just one question following up on the answers surrounding the service standard for environmental compliance approvals.

I am wondering if either of you know whether there is any mechanism for, in certain situations, seeking to have environmental compliance approvals issued on an expedited basis --


MS. CROSS:  There is.  You can make an application to have your application prioritized.

MR. ADAMSON:  Thank you.  That is all I have.

MS. LONG:  Okay.  On behalf of the Panel we want to thank you very much for coming today and giving us that information and evidence.  We appreciate it.  Thank you.

So that concludes the evidentiary portion of this hearing, unless there are any other issues to be dealt with.
Procedural Matters:


There is just one thing I want to follow up with you, Mr. Warren.  Your client is going to be filing some information with respect to station schedules.  If you could give us an update on that, please.

MR. WARREN:  I actually thought it was being filed today.  So I will follow up.  But if it hasn't been filed already it will be filed within the next ten minutes.

MS. LONG:  Okay.  Wonderful.

Any other issues you want to raise, Mr. Cass?  No?  Anyone else.

Then you have the procedural order set out with the submissions schedule, and I think it is fair to say that this Panel understands the urgency of getting a decision out, and we are planning to have one done by the end of this year.  So that is our goal.

MR. WARREN:  Madam Chair, just before you rise, I wonder if I could ask what I hope is the dumbest question of the day, and that is with respect to the meaning of the exchange of argument.  I am not quite clear what happens at the second stage.

Mr. Cass -- sorry, Ms. Cooper and I, Mr. Cass, and Mr. Murphy file argument on the 22nd.

MS. LONG:  Yes.

MR. WARREN:  It is not clear to me whether or not we are expected to respond to one another's argument at the second stage or if it is a response to everybody at the third stage?  Because we are intervenors in one another's applications.

MS. LONG:  Yes, yes.  I will have to take a look at that.  I think we will take it away and provide some further instruction.  I don't have the PO in front of me, so I'd like to do that, but we will send an e-mail out today to parties letting them know so you have advance notice on what you should be doing.  Okay?

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  If I can also just ask something for the Board.  When it's -- one of the issues is there is confidential material that the usual course it is really just the applicant's confidential material, so the applicant gets a copy if the Board gets a copy, but now we have two sets of applicants who can't see each other's confidential material.

And so just what the Board's procedures would be for intervenors filing confidential material.  Do we need to have multiple versions that black out NextBridge -- blacks out only the Hydro One, and Hydro One gets a version that blacks out only NextBridge?

MS. LONG:  It is a lot for me to think about on a Friday afternoon, Mr. Rubenstein.

Okay.  Thank you for raising the concern.  All right.  Thanks, everyone.
--- Whereupon the hearing concluded at 2:27 p.m.
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